
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Licensing and Public Safety 
Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda and Reports  
 

For consideration on  
 
 

Wednesday, 7th March 2012 
 
 

In the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Chorley 
 

At 2.00 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
LICENSING AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE - WEDNESDAY, 7TH 
MARCH 2012 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Licensing and Public Safety Committee to be held in the 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Chorley on Wednesday, 7th March 2012 commencing at 2.00 pm. 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

 
1. Apologies for absence   
 
2. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 2) 
 
 To confirm the enclosed minutes of the Licensing and Public Safety Committee meeting 

held on 14 December 2011. 
 

3. Declarations of Any Interests   
 
 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any personal interest in respect of 

matters contained in this agenda. If the interest arises only as result of your membership 
of another public body or one to which you have been appointed by the Council then you 
only need to declare it if you intend to speak. 
  
If the personal interest is a prejudicial interest, you must withdraw from the meeting. 
Normally you should leave the room before the business starts to be discussed. You do, 
however, have the same right to speak as a member of the public and may remain in the 
room to enable you to exercise that right and then leave immediately. In either case you 
must not seek to improperly influence a decision on the matter. 
 

4. Minutes of the General Licensing Sub Commiittee's   
 
 a) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 11 January 2012 of General Licensing Sub-

Committee  (Pages 3 - 4) 
 

 b) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 8 February 2012 of General Licensing Sub-
Committee  (Pages 5 - 8) 

 
5. Review of Hackney Carriage Licence Numbers  (Pages 9 - 70) 
 
 To consider the enclosed report of the Director of People and Places 

 

Town Hall 
Market Street 

Chorley 
Lancashire 
PR7 1DP 

 
27 February 2012 



 

6. Performance Report   
 
 The Public Protection Manager will provide Members with a verbal update on 

performance year to date  
 

7. Any other item(s) that the Chair decides is/are urgent   
 
 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gary Hall 
Chief Executive 
 
Dianne Scambler 
Democratic and Member Services Officer  
E-mail: dianne.scambler@chorley.gov.uk 
Tel: (01257) 515034 
Fax: (01257) 515150 
 
Distribution 
 
1. Agenda and reports to all Members of the Licensing and Public Safety Committee 

(Councillor Stella Walsh (Chair), Councillor Keith Iddon (Vice-Chair) and Councillors 
Terry Brown, David Dickinson, Doreen Dickinson, Hasina Khan, Paul Leadbetter, 
Marion Lowe, Mick Muncaster, Steve Murfitt, Beverley Murray, Pauline Phipps, Alan Platt, 
Debra Platt, Dave Rogerson, Ralph Snape and John Walker for attendance.  

 
2. Agenda and reports to Simon Clark (Head of Environment), Paul Carter (Public Protection 

Co-ordinator), Legal Services, Jamie Carson (Director of People and Places) and 
Dianne Scambler for attendance.  

 
3. Agenda and reports to Licensing and Public Safety Committee reserves (Councillors 

Anthony Gee and Alison Hansford) for information.  
 

This information can be made available to you in larger print 
or on audio tape, or translated into your own language.  
Please telephone 01257 515118 to access this service. 

 

 
 

01257 515822 



 

 

01257 515823 



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE   
Wednesday, 14 December 2011 

Licensing and Public Safety Committee 
 

Wednesday, 14 December 2011 
 

Present: Councillor Stella Walsh (Chair), Councillor Keith Iddon (Vice-Chair) and Councillors 
Terry Brown, David Dickinson, Doreen Dickinson, Hasina Khan, Paul Leadbetter, Marion Lowe, 
Mick Muncaster, Steve Murfitt, Beverley Murray, Pauline Phipps, Alan Platt, Debra Platt, 
Dave Rogerson, Ralph Snape and John Walker 
 
 
Also in attendance: Simon Clark (Head of Environment), Alex Jackson (Senior Lawyer) and 
Dianne Scambler (Democratic and Member Services Officer) 

 
 

11.LPS.26 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 
 

11.LPS.27 DECLARATIONS OF ANY INTERESTS  
 
No declarations of any interest were made. 
 
 

11.LPS.28 MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Licensing and Public Safety Committee 
meeting were held on 14 September 2011 be held as a correct record for signing 
by the Chair. 
 
 

11.LPS.29 MINUTES OF THE GENERAL LICENSING SUB COMMITTEE'S  
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the General Licensing Sub-Committee’s held 
on 12 October, 25 October, 26 October and 9 November 2011 be confirmed as a 
correct record for signing by the respective Chair. 
 
 

11.LPS.30 MINUTES OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003 SUB COMMITTEE'S  
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Licensing Act 2003 Sub-Committee 
meetings held on 21 September, 28 September and 27 October 2011 be 
confirmed as a correct record for signing by the respective Chair. 
 
 

11.LPS.31 UPDATE ON TAXI DRIVER MATTER  
 
Members were updated by the Vice Chair of the Committee on matters relating to a 
former Chorley Council licensed taxi driver that had recently been highlighted in the 
local papers. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
 

11.LPS.32 PROPOSED CHANGES TO MEDICAL EXAMINATION PROCEDURE  
 
The Director of People and Places submitted a report that sought approval for the 
proposed changes to the medical examination procedure for taxi and private hire 
drivers. 

Agenda Item 2Agenda Page 1



LICENSING AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE   
Wednesday, 14 December 2011 

 
A report had been submitted to the last meeting of the Committee where it had been 
resolved that the implementation of the revised medical examination procedure be 
deferred, to allow the Licensing Liaison Panel to make comments before being 
brought back to this Committee for approval. 
 
This had now taken place and the views and comments of the Panel had been taken 
into consideration. 
 
Taxi and private drivers are required to undertake a medical examination to 
demonstrate that they are fit to drive. The current medical examination form requires 
the applicant to present themselves to a general medical practitioner (GP) for an 
assessment of their fitness to drive under DVLA Group 2 standards. Recent evidence 
indicated that the majority of GP’s may not be experienced or conversant with these 
complex standards. 
 
The Council’s current examination form had been revised by a medical professional 
competent with Group 2 standards. 
 
RESOLVED 

1. That the proposed changes to the medical examination procedure 
relating to Hackney Carriage and Private Driver Licences be 
approved. 

2. That the Option 1 (cost of medical referral is absorbed with the taxi 
regime budget) be approved. 

 
11.LPS.33 PROPOSED CHANGE TO HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARES  

 
Members received a report of the Director of People and Places bringing to their 
attention a request from the Chorley Hackney Carriage Drivers for a change in 
hackney carriage fares which amounted to a slight decrease in the fares charged for 
Hackney Carriage journeys. 
 
The fares had been increased by the Committee in June 2011 following a request by 
the Hackney Carriage trade representative body BBBHA. The effect of the increase 
agreed had an unintended consequence on the pricing fares at the taxi meter in that 
charges for part mile journeys had resulted in small change being required. In addition 
it had been reported that the meter calibration using the current fare structure posed 
difficulties. 
 
Therefore the hackney carriage trade representatives had consulted with a taxi meter 
calibration company and determined the proposed fare structure in the report as 
providing a satisfactory solution. 
 
RESOLVED – That the proposed change in Hackney Carriage fares be agreed, 
subject to the necessary statutory Notice being advertised and no objections 
being received. 
 
Should no objections be received the new fares will be implemented on 9 
January 2012. 
 

11.LPS.34 CHRISTMAS WISHES  
 
The Chair wishes everyone a Merry Christmas and a prosperous New Year. 
 
 
 
 

Chair 
 

Agenda Item 2Agenda Page 2



GENERAL LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE   
Wednesday, 11 January 2012 

General Licensing Sub-Committee 
 

Wednesday, 11 January 2012 
 

Present: Councillor Keith Iddon (Chair) and Councillors Hasina Khan, Paul Leadbetter, 
Dave Rogerson and John Walker 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Alex Jackson (Senior Lawyer), Bob Beeston (Public Protection 
Officer) and Dianne Scambler (Democratic and Member Services Officer) 

 
 

12.LSC.41 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 
 

12.LSC.42 DECLARATIONS OF ANY INTERESTS  
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
 
 

12.LSC.43 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 
RESOLVED – That the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business on the ground that they involve the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 

12.LSC.44 SECTION 61 LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 
1976 - RENEWAL OF PRIVATE HIRE AND HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVERS 
LICENCE'S  
 
The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of People and Places drawing 
Members’ attention to the relevant convictions of a driver and asking them to consider 
whether to take any action under Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
The driver had renewed both his hackney carriage driver licence and private hire 
driver licences on 15 August 2011 and did not declare any convictions, cautions or 
fixed penalty notices on his applications contrary to the conditions attached to his 
private hire driver licence and legislation requiring material information to be 
disclosed. 
 
A copy of his DVLA driver’s licence and counterpart taken at this time revealed a fixed 
penalty offence TS 50 against him on 30 August 2010, for which he had received 3 
penalty points endorsed on his licence. 
 
On 18 November 2011, officers received a Criminal Record Bureau (CRB) Disclosure 
in respect of the driver which revealed three further convictions that had been 
registered against him since his last CRB check on 13 October 2008. The driver also 
had recorded convictions for food safety offences in 2002. 
 
Inspection of a further copy of the driver’s DVLA driving licence and counterpart at a 
meeting with officers on 16 December 2011 revealed a further conviction of SP30 for 
which he had received a further 3 penalty points endorsed on his licence which he had 
also failed to declare. 
 

Agenda Item 4aAgenda Page 3



GENERAL LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE   
Wednesday, 11 January 2012 

Favourable references from various persons were circulated at the meeting by the 
driver’s representative in addition to those contained in the Public Protection Officer’s 
two update reports. 
 
The Sub-Committee considered all representations, taking in to account the 
representations from the driver, his representative and the Council’s Public Protection 
Officer.   
 
After carefully considering the above and taking due account of the relevant factors, 
the Sub-Committee RESOLVED not to suspend or revoke the driver’s hackney or 
private hire driver licences but to issue a warning as to his future conduct for 
the following reasons: 
 
 
(i) Members noted that the food safety offences had already been 
considered by a previous sub-committee and are historic matters. 
 
(ii) The Council’s policy on previous convictions provides that the speeding 
offences are minor convictions.  
 
(iii) Members noted the references in favour of the driver in the update 
reports and the additional ones circulated at the sub-committee. 
 
(iv) Members were however concerned that the driver had failed to declare in 
writing to the Council several convictions for speeding and assault/battery 
within 7 days as required by his licence conditions and had failed to declare 
them on his renewal forms. Members wished to give a clear warning to the 
driver that failure to report and declare on applications for  renewal future 
offences would be treated very seriously and could not only put his licences at 
risk but also make him liable to prosecution by the Council for failing to declare 
material information. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair 
 

Agenda Item 4aAgenda Page 4



 

GENERAL LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE   
Wednesday, 8 February 2012 

General Licensing Sub-Committee 
 

Wednesday, 8 February 2012 
 

Present: Councillor Stella Walsh (Chair) and Councillors Alison Hansford, Marion Lowe, 
Mick Muncaster and John Walker 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Alex Jackson (Senior Lawyer), Stephen Culleton (Public 
Protection Officer) and Dianne Scambler (Democratic and Member Services Officer) 

 
 

12.LSC.45 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Pauline Phipps. 
 
 

12.LSC.46 DECLARATIONS OF ANY INTERESTS  
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
 
 

12.LSC.47 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 
RESOLVED – That the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business on the ground that they involve the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 

12.LSC.48 SECTION 61 OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELANEOUS 
PROVISIONS0 ACT 1976. APPLICATION FOR A PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS 
LICENCE  
 
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Director of People and Places drawing 
to Members’ attention a conviction that had been revealed on an application received 
by a driver and asking them to consider whether to take any action under Section 61 
of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
The driver had renewed his private hire driver licence on 11 May 2011 and did not 
declare any convictions, cautions or fixed penalty notices on his application contrary to 
the conditions attached to his private hire driver licence and legislation requiring 
material information to be disclosed. 
 
On 22 November, officers received a Criminal Record Bureau (CRB) disclosure in 
respect of the driver that revealed a conviction against him. In 1990, the driver had 
been found guilty of the offence on Indecent Assault; he had received an Absolute 
Discharge and costs of £20.00. 
 
The driver had failed to inform the Council at subsequent renewal opportunities of the 
offence recorded against him. However officers were aware that the driver had 
completed a CRB disclosure in November 2008, it is likely that this conviction would 
have appeared on that disclosure and was not brought to the Members of the Sub 
Committee at that time. 
 
The driver attended the Council offices on 12 January 2012 to offer an explanation to 
the disclosed offence. 
 

Agenda Item 4bAgenda Page 5



 

GENERAL LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE   
Wednesday, 8 February 2012 

The Public Protection Officer reported that the driver had not been convicted of any 
other offence since. He held a clean driving licence and had not come to the attention 
of the Council at any time during his licence period. 
 
 
 
The Sub-Committee considered all representations, taking in to account the 
representations from the driver, his representative and the Council’s Public Protection 
Officer.   
 
After carefully considering and taking due account of the relevant factors, the Sub-
Committee RESOLVED not to take any action in relation to the driver’s private 
hire driver licence but to issue a warning as to future conduct for the following 
reasons: 
 
(i) Members noted that the absolute discharge was made over twenty years 
ago and was the least severe option available to the court. 
 
(ii) Members acknowledged that the driver had been a licensed taxi driver in 
Chorley for very many years and that there were no reported complaints against 
him. His driving record is impeccable. 
 
(iii) Members were however concerned that the driver had failed to declare 
the matter on his application form. Members acknowledged that it was recorded 
as a conviction on his CRB disclosure, however as such disclosures are only 
received every three years, it is essential that taxi drivers are completely honest 
on their annual renewal forms. 
 
 

12.LSC.49 TO DETERMINE SUSPENSION NOTICES ISSUED UNDER SECTION 61 (2B) 
OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976  
 
The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of People and Places asking 
Members to consider upholding the suspension of the private hire and hackney 
carriage driver licences following information received from Lancashire Constabulary 
regarding matters of a serious nature. 
 
The matters where of such a serious nature that the Director of People and Places 
had suspended the driver’s private hire and hackney carriage driver licences on 22 
December 2011, under Section 61 (2B) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976, with immediate effect. 
 
That information indicated that the driver, had been arrested for offences relating to a 
Section 18 wounding under the Offences Against The Person Act 1861, that had been 
committed in connection with a Chorley Borough Council licensed private hire vehicle. 
 
The details contained within the Police Intelligence report had not been reproduced 
due to on-going police investigations and legal proceedings. However Members were 
asked to have high regard for the reliability and substance of this intelligence as the 
information was graded as a B.1.1 under the Police Five Point Intelligence System, 
with A.1.1 being the highest and E.1.1., being the lowest. 
 
On 13 January 2012, the driver was asked to attend the Council offices at his 
convenience to offer an explanation to the allegations that had been made against 
him. The driver had not taken up the offer. 
 
The driver had been bailed until 3 February 2012 and Members were informed at the 
meeting that this had been extended until 15 February 2012, whereby, the driver 
would be interviewed further by Lancashire Constabulary about the incident. 
 

Agenda Item 4bAgenda Page 6



 

GENERAL LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE   
Wednesday, 8 February 2012 

A letter was circulated at the meeting from the drivers Solicitor asking Members to 
reinstate his licences as the charges remained unproven. 
 
The driver explained that he had not attended the council’s offices as his father had 
died the day after the incident. He also gave his version of events to the Members of 
the Committee. 
 
The Sub-Committee considered all representations, taking in to account the 
representations from the driver, his representative and the Council’s Public Protection 
Officer.   
 
After carefully considering and taking due account of the relevant factors, the Sub-
Committee RESOLVED to suspend the drivers private hire and hackney carriage 
licences with immediate effect on the grounds of public safety, under Section 61 
(2B) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. Members 
also RESOLVED that Public Protection Officers are requested to bring the 
matter back before the Sub Committee as soon as possible after any criminal 
proceedings are concluded or until the Council is aware that a formal decision 
is made not to prosecute the driver for the following reasons: 
 
(i) The driver is accused of a serious assault which occurred whilst he was 

driving a taxi.  
 
(ii) The driver appeared to have used a metal object as a weapon. 
 
(iii) Members realise that a person being investigated by the police, may not 

wish to speak to third parties about the accusation, but at the same time, 
Members have a duty to protect the public and can only do so based on 
the information put before them. Members noted that the driver had 
failed to attend an interview to explain in more detail about the incident. 
Members were sympathetic to the reasons the driver gave, namely his 
father had passed away, but considered that even in such difficult 
circumstances he could at some point have availed himself of the 
opportunity to give his version of events to council officers. 

 
(iv) As these allegations are unproven, in the interests of fairness, the 

drivers interest in the licences should be preserved. The suspension 
achieves this need for fairness whilst protecting the public. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair 
 

Agenda Item 4bAgenda Page 7



Agenda Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 
Report of Meeting Date 

Director of People and Places Licensing and Public Safety Committee 7 March 2012 

 

REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE LICENCE 

NUMBERS 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1. The purpose of this report is to advise Members of the Councils responsibility to review 
quantity control policies every three years where the Council intend to continue to regulate 
the number of available hackney carriage vehicle licences it issues. 

 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.    Members are recommended to consider the contents of the report and either: 
 
 Option 1 - Instruct the Director of People & Places to proceed with an unmet demand survey 

of hackney carriage provision in Chorley with the results of the survey to be reported back to 
a future Licensing & Public Safety Committee and implement the associated 
recommendations in paragraphs 29 to 35 of this report. 

  
Or 

 
 Option 2 - Instruct the Director of People & Places not to proceed with an unmet demand 

survey, and in doing so, to instruct officers to amend the conditions relating to the application 
for the grant of hackney carriage vehicle licences as detailed in paragraphs 36 and 37 of this 
report.  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF REPORT 

3 The Council has established a limit to the number of hackney carriage vehicle licences it 
issues. This currently stands at 36 hackney carriage vehicle licences including provision for 
disabled access vehicles. 

 
4 The Council is not obliged to maintain a limited number of hackney carriage vehicle licences, 

however where a limit exits, the Council has to be satisfied that there is no significant unmet 
demand. 

 
5 Establishing unmet demand can be achieved by way of a survey of the hackney carriage 

provision and the Council may commission such a survey and recover the costs. 
 
6 Should Members decide not to commission the unmet demand survey then the Council 

would be passively removing the limit of hackney carriage vehicle licences it issues. In this 
instance, the Council would not be in a position to refuse the grant an application for a 
hackney carriage vehicle licence without being exposed to a possible legal challenge. 

      
Confidential report 
Please bold as appropriate 

Yes  No 

 

 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 9



 
CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
 
7. This report relates to the following Strategic Objectives: 
 

Strong Family Support  Education and Jobs  
Being Healthy  Pride in Quality Homes and Clean 

Neighbourhoods 
 

Safe Respectful Communities  Quality Community Services and 
Spaces  

 

Vibrant Local Economy  √ Thriving Town Centre, Local 
Attractions and Villages 

√ 

A Council that is a consistently Top Performing Organisation and Delivers 
Excellent Value for Money 

√ 

 
LEGAL POSITION 
 
8.  The primary legislation governing the licensing of the hackney carriage vehicles is the Town 

and Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 

 
9.  Section 16 of the Transport Act 1985 removed the discretionary power to limit the number 

of hackney carriage vehicles that a licensing authority could licence and replaced it with a 
stringent test which must be satisfied if a licensing authority determined to refuse a licence 
in order to limit numbers including the existence of a coherent and regularly reviewed policy 
to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers. 

 
10.  Where a licensing authority has a limitation policy, in order to comply with Section 16, it 

must be satisfied there is no significant unmet demand, before it can refuse a licence for the 
purpose of limiting numbers. 

 
11.  Any person who is refused a licence has the right of appeal to the Crown Court. 
 
12.  Department of Transport Circular 3/85 provides guidance on the restriction of the power of 

licensing authorities to limit the number of hackney carriage vehicles, and paragraphs 27 
and 28 are reproduced below: - 

 
  “District Councils may wish to review their policy on the control of hackney carriage 

numbers in the light of the section. Limitation of numbers can have many undesirable 
effects - an insufficiency of taxis, either generally or at particular times or in particular 
places; insufficient competition between the providers of taxi services, to the detriment of 
their customers; and prices for the transfer of taxi licences from one person to another 
which imply an artificial restriction of supply.  

 
  Under the section a district Council may refuse a licence to restrict numbers only if 

satisfied that there is no significant unmet demand for taxis in the relevant area. If there 
is an appeal, it will be for the Council to convince the Court that they had reasonable 
grounds for being so satisfied. It will not, in general, be sufficient for a district council to 
rely on the assertion of existing taxi licence holders that the demand is already catered 
for.  

  
  They (licence holders) have evidence only of the demand which they satisfy and it will be 

for the Council to seek for and examine the evidence of unmet demand. There may be 
those who have given up trying to use taxis because of the inadequacy of the service 
and there may be latent demand in parts of a district that have not been adequately 
served - where those who wish to use taxis may not have demonstrated their demand 
since there had been no opportunity of having it satisfied. Moreover, if the applicant for a 
new taxi licence proposed to use it for instance – under Section 12 - and had reasonable 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 10



grounds to believe that there would be a demand for his service if he provided it, a 
Council which wished to refuse a licence would have to satisfy themselves that the 
demand would not be forthcoming. Over crowding at taxi ranks is not itself evidence that 
there is no unmet demand. It may be that the provision of ranks has been too limited and 
that the Council should look actively for sites for further ranks. 

 
  There are a number of district councils, which already exercise no control over the 

number of taxis in their areas without causing problems of over supply. However, the 
Department accepts that in some areas the total abandonment of quantity control could 
lead to an initial over-supply of taxis before market forces could bring about equilibrium 
between supply and demand. In order to avoid possible disruption, a district council 
faced with a large number of applicants could in the Department’s view, reasonably grant 
a proportion of the applications, deferring consideration of the remainder until the effects 
of granting the first tranche could be assessed.” 

 
OTHER RELEVANT INFORMATION 
 
GENERAL 
  
13. Members should note that officers have received representations from the Chorley private 

hire trade regarding the ingress of taxis from neighbouring boroughs whose policies reflect 
the de-limiting of hackney carriage licensing. The effects of which is reportedly having a 
detrimental effect on the trading capabilities of the private hire trade in Chorley. The 
interests of the hackney carriage trade lie not only with their capability of being able to ply 
for hire on the street and at appointed ranks within the town centre , but also with the 
intrinsic  transfer  value  of the hackney carriage vehicle  licence. Members should be 
aware that the extent of this value could be an indicator of a restricted market.  

 
14. Members will be aware that the Law Commission has been appointed to conduct a 

wholesale review of taxi provision and surrounding legislation. It is anticipated that the 
review will be UK wide; will seek to cut red tape and will remove unnecessary restrictions. 
Consultation (due to commence April 2012) on the review will be wide ranging and is due to 
report back to Government with draft legislation by September 2012. The time table for 
implementation of new legislation is anticipated to be mid 2014.  

 
15. There is no legal requirement that a licensing authority needs to be satisfied that there is an 

unmet demand for hackney carriages in order to remove any numerical limitation of 
hackney carriages licensed. R -v- Great Yarmouth Borough Council is the authority for this 
proposition and a licensing authority can at any time decide to de-limit the number of 
hackney carriages it licences, subject to a general proviso that the decision to do so is, not 
of itself, irrational or unlawful. 

 
16. Chorley has a mixed fleet of hackney carriage vehicles which include traditional hackney 

cab vehicles, estate cars, saloon cars and vehicles which meet certain criteria to 
accommodate disabled passengers. 

 
17. Currently Chorley Council has limited the number of hackney carriage vehicle licences that 

it would issue to thirty-six. (Licensing & Public Safety Committee - 10th March 2010).  
 
UNMET DEMAND SURVEY HISTORY 
 
18. Following the publishing of the Transport Act 1985 Chorley Borough Council commissioned 

a survey to ascertain whether or not there was any significant unmet demand for hackney 
carriage provision in the Borough. The result of this survey published in 1986 was that there 
was no significant unmet demand. The number of licensed hackney carriages at this time 
was retained at 30. 

 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 11



19.  A further unmet demand survey was commissioned in 1993, which reported that there was 
 no case to increase the number of hackney carriages. The number remained at 30. 
 
20 A further unmet demand survey carried out in 2001 identified that the number of hackney 

carriages had reduced to 29 with one licence having been revoked in the intervening 
period. The Council determined that one further hackney licence be issued to a specially 
adapted disabled accessible vehicle, bring the total back to 30. 

 
21. A further survey was commissioned in 2005. This identified that a further 7 hackney 

carriage vehicles would be required to meet the identified significant unmet demand. The 
Council accepted the findings of the survey report and hackney vehicle provision was 
increased to 37. 

 
22. The most recent unmet demand survey was conducted in 2008. The survey concluded that 

there was no significant unmet demand in Chorley and the number of hackney carriages 
was retained at 37. In the intervening period a Hackney Carriage Licence was surrendered 
and Members will recall that a decision not to reallocate the Hackney Carriage Licence was 
made thereby reducing the number of hackney carriage vehicle licences from 37 to 36. This 
is the current position. 

 
CURRENT PRIVATE HIRE PROVISION 
 
23. The number of private hire vehicles currently licenced by Chorley Council is 140.This is an 

increase of 3 since the last unmet demand survey and review of hackney carriage provision 
in 2008.  

 
OFFICE OF FAIR TRADING - CENTRAL GOVERNMENT POSITION 
 
 
24. The Office of Fair Trading published a market study into the regulation of taxi’s and private 
 hire vehicles in November 2003.  
 

http://www.oft.gov.uk/shared_oft/reports/comp_policy/oft676.pdf 
 
 The OFT recommended that local authorities should not retain the power to restrict the 

number of hackney carriage vehicle licences because it considered that such restrictions 
can: 

    (a) reduce the availability of taxis 
    (b) increase waiting times for consumers 
    (c) reduce choice and safety for consumers 
    (d) restrict those wanting to set up a taxi business 
 
25. Central Government responded by means of a Written Statement in the House of Commons 

http://www.bis.gov.uk/files/file25882.pdf  In summary, should local authorities choose to limit 
the number of hackney carriages provided in its area it will need to know whether there is 
any unmet demand for taxi services in their area. The Government response indicates that 
consideration may be  given to an unmet demand survey, unless a recent survey has been 
carried out. It also indicates that latent demand should be taken into account in any survey 
carried out. 

 
LOCAL LICENSING FORUM 
 
26. The issue was discussed at the Chorley Licensing Liaison Panel meetings on 31 October 

2011 and 13 February 2012 where the hackney carriage trade representatives have 
expressed that their members would wish to have a unmet demand survey carried out. The 
hackney carriage proprietor’s are aware that the cost of undertaking such a survey is likely 
to be recharged through the hackney carriage licence fee. 

 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 12



27. All of the hackney carriage proprietors have been written to, informing them that a report 
will be submitted to the Licensing & Public Safety Committee on 7 March 2012 asking 
Members to determine if an unmet demand survey should be commissioned. Hackney 
carriage proprietors have been advised to forward any comments they have regarding this 
matter before the 6 March 2012, and officers will present a summary of any responses 
received at the meeting. 

 
PRESENT LEGAL POSITION 
 
28. At the present time the Chorley Council is maintaining a limited number of hackney 
 carriages vehicle licenses set at 36. However, as it is now more that 3 years since the 
 completion of the last unmet demand survey, the Council would be at risk of challenge in 
 the courts should it refuse to grant an application for a hackney carriage vehicle licence. 
 
OPTIONS AND DISCUSSION 
 
OPTION 1 
 
29.  Option 1 – Members approve the commissioning of an unmet demand survey.  
 
30. If Option 1 is preferred it is recommended that in addition to the issue of unmet demand 

(including latent demand) the survey should also include an assessment of the accessibility 
of current vehicles, and provision of ranks and that the cost of the survey be attached 
proportionally to each hackney carriage licence fee at the next renewal opportunity of the 
hackney carriage licence for  each of the thirty six vehicles as a condition of next renewal 
for that licence.  

 
31. Quotations to undertake the survey have been obtained from suitably qualified 

organisations. A total of four companies were identified and invited to quote and two 
quotations were received. Copies of the quotations are attached as Appendices 1 and 2 

. 
32.  The costs of the surveys, including officer hours administrating the survey, are as follows:  

 
Provider Survey 

Costs  
(incl VAT) 

Officer 
Costs * 
(inc VAT) 

Total Costs Cost Per  
HCV Proprietor  

CTS Ltd 
(Appendix 1) 

£12,396.00 £900 £13,296.00 £369 

Halcrow Group 
Ltd (Appendix 2) 

£12,538.50 £900 £13,438.50 £373 

 (* based on 30 hours at £25 /hour) 
 
33. The fee for the survey as quoted above is on the provision that there are no significant 

changes to the proposals and will be in addition to the existing renewal fee. Members may 
wish to instruct officers to present the findings and any recommendations contained within 
the unmet demand survey by way of a report to a future meeting of the Licensing & Public 
Safety Committee. 

 
34. Officers have undertaken a basic evaluation of both quotations and determined that the 

methodologies of the survey differ with Halcrow providing a personal observation survey at 
rank level whereas CTS propose the use of video surveillance. Whilst both companies have 
some experience in this type of work the Halcrow quotation was significantly more 
comprehensive. 

 
 
35.  Council procurement rules for contracts of this size indicate that the quotation that provides 

the best value would normally be the one preferred. As the costs are very similar, officers 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 13



would recommend that on the basis of experience, methodology and the comprehensive 
quotation, Halcrow Group be engaged to undertake the survey. 

 
OPTION 2 
 
36. Option 2 - Members resolve not to undertake an unmet demand survey.  
 
37. If Option 2 is preferred then it is recommended that Members review the Councils 

conditions of application relating to the licensing of hackney carriage vehicles at a future 
meeting of the Licensing & Public Safety Committee but on an interim basis, Members 
introduce the addition of the following condition to the application for the grant of a hackney 
carriage vehicle licence; ‘that the vehicle presented must be white and conform to vehicle 
Type 1 Disability Access Specifications contained within the present condition.’  Officers are 
of the opinion that such a condition would not prevent entry into the hackney carriage trade 
but would maintain the existing clear identity of the hackney carriage provision in Chorley 
and prevent a rush of applications for hackney carriage vehicle licences which could 
overwhelm the current rank provision in Chorley town centre and stretch the Councils 
current administration provisions.   

 
IMPLICATIONS OF REPORT 
 
38. This report has implications in the following areas and the relevant Directors’ comments are 

included: 
 

Finance  Customer Services   
Human Resources  Equality and Diversity   
Legal √ Integrated Impact Assessment 

required? 
 

No significant implications in this 
area 

 Policy and Communications  

 
COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER  
 
39. If the Council wish to continue to limit the number of Hackney Carriage Licences issued 

within the borough then they will require evidence that there is no unmet demand for that 
service. The survey proposed will provide evidence for the committee to decide whether 
any additional licences are required or whether the public have the correct service 
provision. 

 
40. Where members wish to seek the required evidence it is for them to determine the provider 

of the survey based on the information provided within this report. 
 
 
JAMIE CARSON 
DIRECTOR PEOPLE AND PLACES 
 
 

There are no background papers to this report. 

    
Report Author Ext Date Doc ID 

Paul Carter 5738 7 March 2012 unmetdemandMarch2012 

 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 14



Paul Carter 
Public Protection Manager 
Chorley Council 
Civic Offices 
Union Street 
Chorley 
PR7 1AL 
 
20/01/2011 
 
  
 
 
 
Unmet Demand Survey – Chorley Council 
Our Ref: 4371 
 
 
Dear Paul / Steve 
 
Thank you for inviting CTS to provide you a price for undertaking an unmet demand 
survey for your latest review for the Chorley licensing area. Thank you also for 
speaking with me, sending a copy of your previous study and the further clarification 
provided to allow this revised proposal to be more carefully tailored to your needs. 
 
CTS Traffic & Transportation are based in Preston, and we are therefore the closest 
demand survey company to you as well as already being well used to undertaking 
survey work for Lancashire County Council in the Chorley area. We also believe we 
are unique in using video-based rank survey methods which provide a more robust 
and defensible record of rank demand and operation. 
 
We have provided you with a fixed cost for each element of our proposed survey. 
This is summarised in the table below. Detail of the content of each element is 
provided in the following paragraphs. We have also taken care to keep the costs to a 
minimum but have also provided you additional options which we have found useful 
in other recent studies which add value, but are not essential. We have also taken 
great care to revise this proposal to include your specific needs as outline to us by 
phone. We are confident this proposal therefore contains all you consider is 
necessary to be covered in your demand survey at this point in time. 
 
These prices remain negotiable dependant on our interpretation of your requirements 
and your consideration of this offer. We have provided an idea of the professional 
staff time allocated to each task and an additional cost for adding further items or 
scope for your information. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 15



Work Item Fixed 
Price (£) 
+ VAT 

Chargeable 
hours excl 

survey staff 

Hourly rate for 
additional work 

1: Inception and site visit 500 8 54 
2: Policy review and reporting 830 15 54 
3: Rank observations and analysis 
(205 hours) 

3585 23 35 (see notes 1 
and 2) 

4: Public attitudes (400) 1815 8 35 
5: Trade survey 1120 23 54/35 
6: Other stakeholder consultation 1080 20 54 
7: Presentation to Licensing 
Committee 

500 8 54 

TOTAL 9430 97  
Note 1 – adding extra cameras during proposed survey period can cost as little as £75 plus analysis 
time per site which depends on no. of hours and busyness of site 
Note 2 – extra cost per hour is based on collection and analysis by trained staff with a small amount of 
taxi specialist time for the net additional interpretation required. 
Note 3 – all prices are inclusive of expenses, but EXCLUDE VAT. 
 
Our fixed fee for undertaking work items 1 to 7 is therefore £9,430 plus VAT.  
 
We have also included details of our surveys undertaken over the last six years 
(Appendix 1), as well as the CV for our taxi expert who would have control of the 
production of your Final Report (Appendix 2). 
 
With respect to any legal challenges to our work, our taxi expert has never faced any 
sustained legal challenge to the work undertaken. Whilst we have answered 
questions regarding the content of our work, none of this discussion has ever led to 
any requirement for our work to be reviewed in a court situation. We believe that our 
thorough methodology, clear involvement of relevant parties within the survey and in 
particular our video rank data collection method has all helped to maintain this 
situation. Furthermore, our careful documentation of information collected would put 
us in excellent stead were any challenge to be forthcoming. 
 
Below, we have provided further detail of what is included for the costs stated above 
to help clarify the content of our survey, which we believe provides excellent value for 
money. 
 
Proposed Methodology 
 
1: Inception Meeting 
Upon appointment, we would agree a date for an inception meeting. If possible, this 
meeting should include as well as licensing staff, at least for part of the time, 
representatives from key stakeholder groups including: 

- Pub Watch 
- City Centre Management 
- Local Transport Plan representatives 
- A police representative 

 
We believe that including the above representatives would allow us to get the study 
off to a prompt start. Were you to feel able to include trade representatives, that 
usually leads to the best studies but we understand in some cases this is not 
appropriate as the trade might then play up to the surveys. 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 16



This meeting would include final agreement of the content of our public attitude 
questionnaire that would be undertaken with up to 600 persons. We would 
recommend surveys be undertaken in all relevant sections of Chorley town centre 
(250), plus up to seven other locations with a sample of 50 persons to be agreed, 
giving a total of 600 interviews which we believe is a sufficient sample for the 
purposes of this survey (see further detail in section 4 below).  
 
It will be important to ensure all potential demand locations for hackney carriages are 
surveyed with this public attitude questionnaire to ensure any latent demand can be 
captured. A draft copy of the proposed questionnaire is included as Appendix 3 for 
circulation to parties in advance of the inception meeting. As mentioned at our 
meeting, your specific questions will be added and agreed with yourselves at that 
time. 
 
Any available information should be available at this meeting, together with any 
further detail of stakeholders beyond those able to attend the meeting (including 
other stakeholders listed in the DfT Best Practise Guidance, including 
representatives of disabled groups and the business community such as key shops 
and businesses).  
 
The inception meeting would be preceded or followed by the opportunity for a 
member of licensing staff to show us around current rank provision in the area. It 
would also confirm timetables for delivery of the various elements of the study. 
 
Cost - £500 
 
 
2: Policy Review and Reporting 
This section of work would summarise the research undertaken in the various 
strands of the study to provide an evaluation of the level of unmet need for hackney 
carriages in the area. Results of each survey would be provided and drawn together 
into a set of conclusions from our research. This would lead to a set of 
recommendations suggesting alternative regimes for taxi regulation in the area, 
ranging from maintaining the current limit, through specific and managed growth to 
full removal of number regulation. This would enable the committee to make a 
reasoned decision at the presentation. 
 
The results of our review would be contained in a report which would ensure 
recommendations made in light of the current Best Practise Guidance. The report 
would include summary of all research undertaken, including extracts from nationally 
available statistics for licensed vehicle numbers and licensed vehicle fares. 
 
Our report would include clear statements of situations where further work would be 
required to ensure the information base remained robust, in particular any events that 
might occur that might require specific rank survey work or other data to be updated, 
and recommendations of how policy might be developed for your area in a way that 
would ensure hackney carriages remained a vital part of the public transport offer of 
the area in a sustainable manner. 
 
Cost - £830 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 17



3: Rank Observations 
Our rank surveys allow for up to 205 hours of observations undertaken over three 
busy days (including Chorley market day, Tuesday). We consider that our video-
based method of data collection provides a robust data source which can be 
reviewed if necessary and which minimises any opportunity for the data to be falsified 
in any way. It also allows ready checking of any locations where unmet demand is 
identified to ensure that this is not arising from geometric or other matters that could 
be resolved in ways other than by adding extra plates. 
 
Our rank surveys will cover up to seven locations on three days (we would presently 
expect to cover a Friday, Saturday and Tuesday) to ensure all hackney carriage 
activity was observed, and that any attempt to ‘flood’ ranks being observed would be 
thwarted. Observations at the railway station would cover the Friday and Tuesday, 
and would identify how this location was served given the absence of any formal 
rank.  
 
At your request, we are also covering observations at the main rank and the railway 
station on the Tuesday following the weekend observations (Market Day). Your 
previous survey would provide sufficient information to allow understanding of the 
likely potential for unmet demand on other days of the week. 
 
We would provide our detailed rank observation proposals to the Council within one 
week of the inception meeting site visit and then aim to undertake the actual survey 
work in a timetable to be agreed at the inception meeting. At this point in time, this 
could be during March, April or May, or between September and November. We 
would not usually undertake rank work in August when schools were on holiday, and 
this year we would not undertake work in June or July with the run-up to the 
Olympics and Queen’s Jubilee celebrations. We would also avoid the month of 
Ramadan when we are aware when this is this year.  
 
The video method allows precise timing of all arrivals and departures, giving extra 
certainty regarding any unmet demand identified, and an excellent balance between 
vehicle waiting and passenger waiting times so that any decision on unmet demand 
can be carefully made in context of the operation. 
 
Each video is watched by a trained member of CTS staff to ensure consistency and 
accuracy, and the data is then interpreted and presented in tabular format to show 
current rank performance. Other issues regarding rank performance, such as safety 
issues or abuse of the location by other vehicles are also noted as a matter of 
course, providing added value to this method. 
 
Cost - £3,585 
 
4: Public Attitude Surveys 
A public attitude survey, using the agreed questions confirmed at the inception 
meeting, would be undertaken with people in areas around the town, as agreed at 
the inception meeting. This would seek to understand how the public currently 
perceive licensed vehicles and their availability in this area. The sample obtained 
would be compared to current 2012 population estimates for the Council area (using 
nationally available statistics unless local data was readily available). 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 18



This survey is important to identify any latent demand. At present we would expect to 
undertake 250 surveys in Chorley and up to seven samples of, 50 interviews in 
further locations to be agreed, but which you suggested might be Astley Village, 
Coppull, Adlington, Wheelton, Ecclestone and Euxton. We are aware there are some 
23 ‘towns’ defined within Chorley (as shown on your web site), but that many would 
be too small to provide any reasonable public attitude sample size. We also agree 
that we will confirm the location of surveys in Chorley town centre at the inception 
meeting so we can cover locations where people might want to see new ranks as 
well as those currently using hackney carriages. We also confirm that we would 
undertake the public attitude work on the weekend following the rank surveys to 
avoid the trade being unnecessarily made aware of the rank work that was ongoing. 
 
The questionnaire would be tailored to include questions eliciting how the public felt 
about vehicle condition, use of electric vehicles and other relevant concerns as 
agreed at the inception meeting. In particular, we are aware you would like to know 
how many people currently arrive by another mode and return by hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle and we would confirm how this could be included in the 
questionnaire at the inception meeting. 
 
Cost - £1,815 
 
5: Trade survey of all license holders 
We assume that, for data protection reasons, invitation letters and questionnaires 
would be sent out by the licensing department. The content of the questionnaire to be 
used would be agreed at the inception meeting, and a letter provided to be sent with 
the questionnaire. The option of return to a freepost address or by email would also 
be provided, as well as provision of a telephone number for people to give their 
comments verbally were that felt to be appropriate. 
 
A drop in day would be arranged for hackney carriage and private hire drivers (in 
separate sessions) to come and speak with us, leaving completed questionnaires 
with us at the same time. Options would be available if questionnaires could be 
handed out by trade members and returned.  
 
The above method of consulting the trade was developed to meet the requirements 
of both the Best Practice Guidance and case history following the Watford case 
where insufficient consultation with the trade was undertaken. Our method has been 
refined as further studies have been undertaken. 
 
The data received will be entered into an analysis spreadsheet using well-trained 
data entry operators who are experienced in interpreting and entering similar data, 
and who can undertake this process promptly, accurately and efficiently. Final 
analysis, checking and interpretation would be undertaken by our taxi expert and the 
results incorporated into the Final Report. 
 
Key outputs from this questionnaire would include the average time worked by 
drivers at present and estimates of the level of revenue currently being received by 
drivers in the area.  
 
Cost - £1,120 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 19



6: Other stakeholder consultation 
The Department for Transport Best Practise Guidance lists a number of key 
stakeholders to be consulted. Our proposed list of stakeholders would be forwarded 
to the Council in advance of the inception meeting to ensure that any current contact 
details held by the Council could be utilised. Our recent surveys have included 
sending some consultation to relevant persons by email, which has proved very 
successful in obtaining high levels of prompt response. This would be backed up by 
postal requests, and supplemented by phone calls to ensure every opportunity was 
taken to give key stakeholders chance to contribute. 
 
In our discussions, you suggested there is a forthcoming development with a major 
supermarket at the opposite end of the town centre to the current main rank. We 
agree it would therefore be prudent to hold a face to face meeting with the local 
planners to identify the expectations regarding the timing of this development and its 
potential to provide further demand for hackney carriages. We have assumed we 
could arrange this meeting on one of the other days when we were visiting Chorley to 
keep costs to a minimum.  
 
Cost - £1080 
 
7: Presentation to Licensing Committee 
We have included a single presentation by our taxi expert to the licensing committee 
on one day. This will utilise a powerpoint presentation. 
 
Cost - £500 
 
 
Other Options 
In other recent surveys, we have included the option of a face to face discussion of 
the draft final report with relevant officers. This has often added value to our report, 
allowing direct discussion of issues with officers and a clearer focus of 
recommendations than is possible without such face to face contact. If you required 
this option, it could be added for an additional £470. 
 
We could also undertake a more detailed review of your current rank provision and 
the potential for alternative ranks. If this option was taken at the time of appointment 
(or during the inception meeting) it would cost an additional £430. Outputs would 
include a current rank appreciation together with a list of options showing their 
potential strengths and weaknesses in terms of provision for public requirements in 
the area. 
 
 
Dates and Availability: 
Our review can commence immediately you confirm your agreement to our 
methodology with a purchase order. CTS are available immediately. We are happy to 
negotiate and develop this brief proposal further following feedback and 
consideration by yourself and other relevant council officials who may wish to have 
an input. We understand you will be presenting the options available to your 
committee on 7 March 2012 and would appoint the successful tenderer within a week 
of that meeting. Assuming appointment no later than 14 March 2012, we would 
expect to be able to return a draft report to you by the end of April 2012, and to 
undertake a presentation to committee during May 2012. If you wish to discuss the 
timetable further, we can discuss this on receipt of this letter, or at inception. 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 20



If you wish to clarify any of the points in this letter, please call Ian Millership on 07976 
344254 or 0121 558 2259. You can also arrange an inception meeting directly with 
Ian. 
 
Client Satisfaction 
  
CTS Traffic and Transportation Ltd work to the highest standards in all aspects of 
survey work.   We have established a comprehensive quality control system and 
welcome your participation and feedback with regards to the services we provide.  A 
copy of our legal documentation and abridged health and safety information is 
available on request. If you have any queries about any aspect of this quotation 
please do not hesitate to contact me, using the above details. 
 
 
Best Regards 
 
 
 
Joseph Maclaren 
For CTS Traffic and Transportation Ltd 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 21



Agenda Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



Halcrow Group Limited is a CH2M Hill Company� �

Halcrow Group Limited  
Arndale House, Otley Road 

Headingley, Leeds, LS6 2UL 
Tel 0113 220 8220 

    Fax 0113 274 2924  
halcrow.com  

    
Halcrow Group Limited has prepared this proposal in accordance with  

the instructions of Chorley Borough Council for the client’s sole and specific use. 
Any other persons who use any information contained herein do so at their own risk. 

�

�

��������	�
�����
������������

�

 

Survey of Demand for Hackney 
Carriage Services 

Proposal 

Chorley Borough Council 

January 2012 

 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 23



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

 

��
��
���
�
�
� �
���������
 ....................................................................................................... 1 

� �����������...................................................................................................... 3 

� �� ����
�� ........................................................................................................ 14 

! ���		�
�............................................................................................................. 20 

" #���$�� ���� ..................................................................................................... 22 

�
��

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 24



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

��
������	�
�����
������������������������������

�� �
���������
�
�

�%�� &�
�����
����� ��������� ��� ���������� ��� ������	� ���
��������� ��� ��� ����������� ��� ������  ����
�������� !����"�� �������� #�������� !�$� 	���
	���� ��� �������� ������������ ��� �������%�� ��
������� � � �������  ��� ���%���� ������"��
�������������������&�

�%�� ������'()��������
�������� !�� 	����� ��� ������ ���� ��
�������������� ���� ������������ ������� � �
�������  ��� ���%���� ������"�� ��������� ��� ����
�������'�� ����&� ����� ��� ��� ���������� � � ����
���������� ���� ����"��� ������ ���� ���������
�������� ��������������(&�����%�����)��������
� ������������������������ ��������������*�

• ����������	�����������������������������
� � ��"�� ������ ������ �������  ���
���%���� ������"�� +�������� ��� �������*�
����

• � � ��"�� ������ ������ ������� ���  �����
���������� ��	� ����� ��������� 	�����
������������������������&��

�
�%�� *�������
���
�������� ��� �������� ���
���������,� ��� ����������
	���� � � -�"����&� �������'�� ���������
�����������	��� ���������� ��� ��.,/���� �������&�
���� �����"�� ��� ������� ������ 	���� ��� ������
������ �����������	�&�

�������� !�� ���� �� �������� � � ����������"� ����
�������� ����%����������"�� ��������*� ��� ���.,�
��������!�� ���������� ���� ������  ���� 0�� ��� 01�
���%���� ������"�� ��������&� 2�  ������� ������ ���
���(� ����	��� ���� ������������ ��� ��������� ��� ���
����������&�������)������� ����%����������"���
���� 	����� ������� ��������� 	���� ����� 
������
������ ����� ���� ����� 	���������� �����������
��������&��

                                                      
1 +�����3�4��������+���������������-�������� 

5�� ��������,� �������� !�� ��������� �������� �����
��������&�

�%�� +���������,-�
������	� ���� �� "����� ����� � � �6��������� ���
	��%��"� 	���� ��������"� ������������ ������� ����
78&� � ����� �6��������� ��� �6������� ����� ���
+������� 0� ���� ��������� ��6�� �������� ��������,�
������� �����	�,� ���� ������ ������� ��������
�����������78&��������	�������������� �������%�
������� ��� �����&� �9���������� ������� ���������
����� 	����� ��������"� ������������ ���� �����
������ ��������� 	���� ��������� ��� ������&��
������	� ���� ������ ���� ���� � � ���� �������
�������� ����:������� ��� ������ ���� ���
���������"����� �� ���������� ��� ����� �6�����
���������&� 9�� ���� ����� ������� ��� �������%��
�������������������	�3�

• ����� �6��������� 	��%��"� ��� ��������
����������������������������%��*�

• �����������������������������������	����
������ ��� � ������ ������ �6���������� ���
�����*�

• ��� ����������  ����	��"� ���� ������� ����
���� ���� ������ ������� ����������� ��� ����
������*�

• ���������"�����6��������������������*�
• ���������� �� ��)��� ������������� ���78�

	���� ��������� ��� ���� ��6�� ��������� ����
����� ����� ���� ����������� � � �������  ���
����; ������<=�*�

• 	�� ��)��� ��� �6�������� ����������� ���
���������"���������������������*�����

• 	�� ����� �6��������� ��� ��������,�
�������������������������&�

�
9����	�����������������������%����,�������	����
���� � � ���� 78'�� ���"���� ���������� �������"�
�������������&� ����  ���� ���� ����� ����� >,����
���  *�0���������"�	��������������������������"�
�������,� ��������"� ���  ��� ���� ��"�	���
��"������,����������������������������������,�
��������,� ��������������,� ������������
������������ ���� ��������� �6�����&�2�� ����� � �

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 25



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

��
������	�
�����
������������������������������

���� ����� �����  ������ � � ��������'�� 	�� ����
����� 0�,���� �����",� ��%��"� ��� ���� � � ����
	����'�� ���"���� ���������� ��������"� ��� ����
������������������%��&�

�

�%�� .���
��$������
����� ��
���
5�� ����� ���� ;����������  ��� ���������� #; �$�
��������*���� $��������&����
��� 	��� /���� �
��
$��������������������"&�����
�����������������
���� ;=�'�� ��������� ��"�����"� ���������
������������&� � -����������,� ���� ; �� ������� �����
���� ����������� � � ��"�� ������ ������ ������,�
��������������+��������>�� ������?(.�2��,����������
�������������� ���� ��  ������� ��� ����� � ��� )���� ��
���������� ������ �������&� ���� 
��������
��������� ������ ������������ 	���� ����������� ���
������ ��������� ��%��"� 	���� ����� ����
����������"� ���� ��������"� ���������  ��� ������
����������&��
����������������������������"��� �
���������������"3�� ��6�������6����������,���������
��������",����������������"������������"&�

=����	��"� ���� ������������ � � ����� "��������
������	�������������������� ��� ������������
�������������"����������������������������������
����������� ��������������&�

���� �0������� 1��� �2�2� ��������� �� ��	�
�����:������"� ��"���������  ����	��%� ��� ��������
������"����� ����������������������������������
� �������������  ������&� � ���������������� ��� ����

-��������2���	���� ����� �����  ����� ��� ��  ������
������ ��� ����	� �����  ��� ���� ������� ����
��"����������� �  ������ ��� ���� ��	� ��	�� ���
��������  ��� ����&� ���� 
���������� ���
����������"���	� ������  �����������������	����
�������������������������2������������������
��� ��� �  ������� ���� �������������� 	��&� +����
����������� ����� �����  ����� ��� ���� ����<�������
����� ��	���������� � � ���� �����������  ��� ��6��
��������������	���������������������������� ����
2���������&�������������������������������������
����������������������������������������������
 ���������������������&�

+������� �>��� � ����-��������2��� ���������� ����
���� ��	� ��� ��������� ��� ������ ������,� ���
������� ��������"� ������������ ����� �����
@�����������  �	'� 	���������� ����������� ��6���
��������"� ��� ����������,�������� �� ���� ���������
����������������� ����������������� �����������"�
��6���������&�

�

�%�� �����������	�����$�� �����
���� ���������� � � ����� ��������� �������� ����
�������������������������������������� 3�

��� ������ ���������"���
��� ������ -6���������
��� ����!� +��  ��"�
��� ����"� =���A��������
�

�

�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 26



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

0�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

�� ������������
�

�%�� �
���������
�
�������������� �������������������������������� �
���� ��������� ��� ���� �����&� !����� ��� ����
�������������� ���������!����"����������	��
�������� ����� ���� ������ 	���� �������� ����
 ����	��"�������������"��*�

• �������3�5��������*�
• �������3�B��%������	�
• �������3���������"����������� ��������

����+�"�� ������7�����;�����*�
• ������!3�������������*�
• ������ "3� ����������� 	���� ������

�����������*������
• ������33�B�������"�

�
���� %��� ���%�� � � ���� ������ ���� ���������� ���
=�"���� �&�� ��"������ 	���� ���� ���������
���� ����� ������������&������������������������
�������������"������������ �������������������
!����"��  ��� ���%���� ������"��� ���� ���
�����������������������)������������������������
����� �������,� 	�� �������� ��� �������%�� ��
���"������ � � ���%�������� ������������,� ���
������� ������� ��������	�� ���� ���%�
������������&�

�
�������� �
�� ���
�
9��	���� �"���� �������������������� � ����������
	���������������"����������������� �����	��%�
���� ������������ 	������ 	����� ���� ������ 	����
���������������&�������	����������3�

• ����� �������� � � ���� ��)�������� � � ����
	��%*�

• ����������� � � �������� � � ����
���������"�*�

• �"����������������������������*�
• �����	�� ���������������*�����
•  ������������ � � ���� �������������

�����"������&�
�
2��� ����� ��� �� ��������� ���� 	���� ��� �������
	���� ��� �������������� ����� ���"��� � ���� �����&���

2�� ���������� ������� 	���� ��� ���������
 ����	��"� ����� ������",� ��������"� ���� %���
�����������������%���������� ������������&������
	��������������������������������&�

�������� .�
��.����,�
A����� ��� ���������"� ���� ���%� ������������
���"�����,� 	�� 	���� ������ ����� � � ���� ���%��
������� �������� ��� �����	� ������ ���������,�
���6������ ��� ������� "���������,� ����
��"��"�C�� �����������&� ��"������ 	����
�������������	���� ������������"�����,� �����	����
������� ��� ��������"� �� ��������������� �������
��������&���

�������� �������
�����
�	���
��
4
����
���
��

���������������������� ���������� ����� ������ �
������,� ���� ������� ������ ��� ��� ������ ��� ��
������ ������������"� � � ��"�� ������ ������
������&� ���� ������������ � � ������� ����
������"����� ��������� � � ����� ��"�� ������
������ ������� ����� � ���� ���� �  ����� � �
����������� ��������� ��� ���� ������ ���� ������
�����������������������&�

������	'��������� ��� �������������� �.������'�
�6����������������� �������%��"���������� ������
����� ��	� ���� ��������� ��������������&� �����
���� ����������� ��� ���� ������������ � � ���
��)������� �������� � � ��"�� ������ ������
������� ����� ���� ����� ������� ����� �� ������
�����������+��������>����	��������2������&�

���� ��������  ����� ��������� �  � ���� �������� � �
������������� � � ��������� ��� ���� ���%�&� � 5��
����������������%������������ 3�

• ����� ��	� ����� ��""����� ��� ����������
���������%�������������	�� ��������%��*�

• ���� ������� ��� �������� �������� ��� �������
� � ������� ��� ���� ���%�� �����"� ��  ������
��������� �������������	��%*�����

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 27



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

/�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

• ���� �����  ��� ����������� ���������� � �
��  ������ �����������,� ���� ���� �����
�������������������&�

�
+�"�� ������ ������ ������� ���� �	��
����������3�

• A������ ������� D� �����	����� ��� ���������
����������*�����

• 
������ ��� ����������� ������� D� �����
	������������������������������������&�
����� ��� ����� ���� �	�� ����������,�
������� ����� ��� ����"� ����������������
���,��&�&�����"��������"� �������������������
����� ��������,� ���� ����������� �������
����� &� � =����	��"� ����� ��	� ��������"�
������� A����� !����"�� �������� ����� ����
��� ������ ���� � � ������ ��� ��������� �����
������� ����� �����  ������ ��� ���� �����
�������������������� �������������������
���������������� ������%���&��A���������,�
���	���������������	��������������������
�������� � � �� ���������� ������� ���
���������� ���� ������� ��� ���%�� ��� ����
����� �������� � ���� ������,� ���� ����������
����� �� ���%� � � ������������ ��� ���	��
������)��"������&��4�	�	�������������
� � 2������ ���������� ����� �����������
����� 	�� ����� ����� ��� ��������� ������
�������� � � @������'� ������� ����� ����
����������&�

�
;������ ��� ��������� ����"� ���%� ������������
���� ������� ��������� �������� ���� ���������
����"�����5���6�� �+�"�� ������7�����;������
@5+7;'�  �����&� � ���� 5+7;�  ������ ���� �����
�������� ��� ����� �0�� �������� ���������� ���
������	� ���  ,� ���� ������� ���� ����� ��������
���������  �������������"� ��� �������%������ ����
��������� �������� � � ��"�� ������ ������
������&� 5�� ���� ������� ��� ��� �� ������,�
������������ ��������"� ���� ��������� �������&��
����  ������ ���� ����� ��������� ���������	� ���
�����������������	������������	���3�

• !�� ���� ����������� � �� ������������  �����&��
������ ��� �����"� ��������� ����� ���%����

������"�� ������� ���� ����� ��������"� ���
���� ����� � � ����&� � 5�� ��� ��  ������ ��� ���
�������� ���� ��� ����� ������ ������� ���
�������������� ��"���� ��� ���� ����� ��� ���
���������� ����� ��� ��� ��� E������� ����
=�������&� �����  �����������������������
�����%���������	����� �������*�����

• ��� ���� ���������� � � �� ������� �������
 �����&���������>����������; ��"��������
������� "������� ��������� ��� ����
����������� � � ������� ������&��
������	'�� )��"������ ��� ����� ����� ������
��������%�������������������� ����6������
�������������������� �������������������
�� �������������������� ����������&�����
�������������� ����������������� ��������
������� ��������	�� ���� �������� ����
�������������"�� ����������������������
��� ������������� �� ������ ��� ����
������� � � ������� ������� ��� ����
��������"�!����"��

�

5 � ������ ��� �� ��"�� ������ ������ ������,� ����
�����������������������������������	���� ������
��� ������ ��� ���������� ��&� � ������	� ����
���������� �� ������������ ������� ��� ���%� ����
��������� ������� � � ��������� ��� ���� 5+7;�
 �����&� � ����� ���������� ������� +7;+5��
��������� �� ������"�� � � ���� ������  ���� ����
����������� ����� ����������� ������ #+�2B/� D�
+���������� � � ��6��� 2�� B��%�$� ���� ���� 5+7;�
�����&� � 5�� ������������������������������������
� � ��������� ���������������� ��� ��������
���������� #	����� �� ��"�� ������������ �������
���� �����  ����$� ���� ���������������� � � ����
���%��,� ��������"� ���� ������� ���������� � �
���%����,���������5+7;� �����&����������������
��� �6�������� ��� ������	� ���� �����������
������������ ������������ ��� ������ �������
�������&�

���%� 0&�3� ��������"� +�"�� ������ 7�����
;������D�B��%�<�����������

���� ����� ������� � � ��������"� ���%����
������"�� ������� ��� ������ ��� �����������&�
B��%� ������������ ������ ���� ������� �������

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 28



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

.�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

���� ���������������� ���� ������&� � ����
��������� ��������%�������������������� ����	�3�

• ��� ������ �� �������  ��� ���%����
������"��&� 9�� ������� ��� ��������� � � ��
�������� 	��%'�� ��������� ����"� �������"�
�������*�

• ��� ������ �� ���� ������ � � ���� �������
��� ���,��������������� �������������"����
���%��������"��*��

• ��� ������ �� ������"��� ���� ���� ������ ���
�������%*�����

• ��� ���������� 	���� ����������� � � ����
���%���� ������ ��� ������"� ���� ���%� #����
�����6�������������������������������"�����
���%��D�����"��������"$&�

�
���� ���%� ������������� ����	� ��� ��� "��"�� ����
�6��������	�����	����������������������������"�
���%�������:������&��������%��������������	����
����� ���%� ��� ���������� ���� ������� � � ����"���
�����"�  ��� ����� ��� ���%�� ��� ����� �������� �����
��������� ���� ���������  ���� ���"�������"�
�����������&� � ���� ���%� �������������  ���� ����
5+7;�����+7;+5�����������������������������
���"��� ����� ���������� �������� � � ���� �����
����������� ���� ��������&� � � � <������������ 	����
������������������(�������0��,�����"�������	����
��� ��������� ��� ���� ���������������� � � ���� ���%�
�������������������������&�

���� ����� ��������� ��� ����� � � ���� ���%�
������������� 	���� �������� ����  ����	��"�
�� ��������� �������������3�

• !�������� �+����������;�����*�
• ���������� �������������*�
• �����"������������������������*��
• ������C��������� ����*�
• ���������� �@����������%��"'*�
• �����  ��������������� ���������*�����
• ��������� � � �������  ��� ���%����

������"��������������������
�
!����������������������6���������������	�����
����	��� �� ������ ����������� � � 52� �����&� ����
����������� � � ������ 	���� ������ ���� %��� ���%��
������� ���� ��������"� ����� ���� ����	� �����

�������������������������������������������������
	������������������������"������%��"����������&�
<��� �������� ����������� ��� ���%� ��� ���	�� ���
������ �&�� ��	����,� ������ 	���� ���  ���������
 ����	��"���������������������������	��������
��������"��  ����������������%������	&��

� �������&�3�5�������2����������

.�
�� ������

��F��/���������%�� //�

�� F� ��"��:����� �����
���%��

���

!��CB����+�������� �>�

�

9������������������ ������������������������������
��  ������� ��� �������� �� ������� ������  ���
����������&� � 9���� ����������"� ���%�
������������ ���������� ������ ��� �� �������� ���
	���� ��� ��������� ���������&� ������	'��
�������� ���� ������ ��� ���%��� ������"�
�6�����������������%�������&�2������  ���������
������	������������������������������"�����
����� ���� ��� ������������ ������ � � ������� ����
�� ����&� � =������� �� ����������������� ���������
���������������A�"����&�

-6��������� ���� ��""������ ����� ���%����
������� �6������� �� ��"���� � � ������������ ����
����� ��� ����	���  ��� ��� ���� ���������� � � ��
������������ �����&����� ���������������������������
������� ����� �� ���"����� ��������� ������� 	���
��������� ��� ��� G���������H� ������ 	���� ���
��������&� �����  ������ ��%��� �� ������ � � ��  ���
���������������������+������������4��������
���� ������ ��� E���,� �&�&� G�������H� ������&� 5��

                                                      
2 Manual observations allow the authority to 
gain a greater understanding of the demand 
profile for taxis as opposed to the use of video 
observations.  They are conducted at the 
ranks over a number of different days and time 
periods– this provides a more realistic picture 
of demand levels than conducting much 
shorter observations using cameras. 

 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 29



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

>�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

��%��� ��������� � �&��  ��� �������� ���������� ���
E������� ���� =�������� ���� ���� ���"��� �������
��������,�	����� ��	� ������� #���� �������� � �
��������� 	��%�  ��� �6�����$� 	���� ����� ����
�������� ���  ������ � � ���� ���%���� �����,� ���� ��
������ � � �&(�  ��� �������� ���������� ���
;�������� �����"� ���� ���� ���������� ����� � �
��������&� � 9�� �������� ��� �������%�� ���� ���%�
������������� ��� 2����C���� ����� �������"�
������� �������� �������,� ���� 	���� �"���� ���
�����������������	������������������������&�

���� ���%� ������������� 	���� ����� ��������
���������� ����������������� ����� �����������"�
���� ��"��� ����� �������� ���� ���� ������� � �
	������������������������"������������������%&�

�

���%� 0&�3� ;���������"� ���� ������� � �
��������������������

����  ����� ������ ��� �������������	��������������
�������6���������"�� ������������������&�������
����������������"�������	'��5+7;��������������
���������������&�����������������,�������"����
��� ���� 5+7;�  �����",� ��� ��	� ����� ��	�
��������� ���� ��������&� � ����� ��� �����������
����"�����+7;+5���������������)�����"� �����
 ��� ������� ������&� 9����� ��"�� ������ ������
������� ��� ������ ���� ���� ������������
����������������������������� ������������������
���� ����	��"� ������3�

4�	����������I�+7;+5��6�+����������� ������

9����3�

• +7;+5�� ��� ���%���� ������ ����"������
������

• +����������� ������I�#�J������������	���
����� "����� ��� �����"� ��� ������� ��
���%����������%���� ��"��	��������������
������������$&�

�
�
������!� ��
��������
�
�������������	���� ��������)������������ �����
�����&� ��������������	���� ��� �������%��� ��� ��
������� � � ������ ���� 	���� �� ���"�� � �

����������&� �9�� ����� ��""������ �	�� ���������
�6����� ������� ���� ���������� 	���� ��� �6�����
������ ������������&� =��� ����,� ���� ���������
������������� ���� ����� ������ ����� �� ������� � �
������������%�3�

• ���%�/&�3��A������������������*�
• ���%�/&�3��9�������+��%������������

������������������*��
• ���%�/&03��=�����
������#��������$*�����
• ���%�/&/3��������+������#��������$�

�
���%�/&��A�������������������

5�������� ��� ��������	���� ����"�������������,� ��
������� ��������� �������	���� �������"���&� � ����
������� 	���� ��������� /���  ���:��: ����
��������	�� ������������� ������� ���� ��������
��������"���������� )����	��������������������&��
5����"���� �����������������������A������������
!��� ���,� 	�� ����� ����������� �����������
��������� ����%�� ��� ������� ���� ��������� � � �����
����&� 9�� ����� ������� 	���� ���%��� B��������
+�������#�B+$����������������������������&��

������������������"����������������� ���������
 ������������������������������ ���6�����������
���� ��� �������� ���� ������ � � ����������� #���
������$� ������,� ��� ����������� 	���� ���� �����
��� ��� ������ � � 2������ )��"������ ��������"�
������� A����� !����"�� �������� ��� ����&� �����
�����"� ���������  ��� ����  ����� ����� ���
������������ �� �������� � � 	���� ���� �������
	���� ��� ���� ��� 	��� � � ��������� ��� �����
�������������"��������)���&���

2� �����:��������� ������ 	���� ���  ����	��� ���
������� ����� �� ��������������� ������� � � ����
����������"�����&��5�����������������������������
�� ������� ������� � � ��K�� � ������������	����
��� ���������� ��� ���� �� ������ �������&� 5 � ����
���������������� ���� ��������� ���� ����� 	���� ���
���������� ���� �� 	����� ������� ���������� ���
������������������������&���

5�� ��������� ��� ����������"� ������� � �
���������������������������������������������
	��������������������� �������"��� ����	��	����
��"���� ��� ��6�� ��������� ��� ���� �����"�� � �
�������&� ���� ������� 	���� ��� ����"���� ���

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 30



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

1�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

�������������	������������ ��� ��%������� ��������
�������������� ����	��"3�

• ���"��� ���� ����� ������� 	���� ������ ���
���%�,�  ��"��	�� ���� ����������
���%��"�*�

• ������� ����������� � � ���� �������� ������
��������������*�

• ���������	��������%����������"����������
��"�"��*�

• ���	���������"������ ����� ����*�
• ���	�� �������"� ��� ���� ������ � � ���%����

������"��*�
• ����� �	�����������������������������*�
• ����� �������	������������������������� �

���%����*�
• ���������������"��"��� ����%�*�����
• ����� ������� 	���� �������� ���� �������

�������&�
�
���� �������������� 	���� �����  ����� ��� ����
��������� � � �������  ��� ���%���� ������"��
���������� ��� ������ ���� ���������� ������� ���
���%�,�  ��� �6������ 2�����"���,� -�6���� ����
!��%���	&��

������	� ���� ��"�� ������ �6��������� � �
�������%��"� ����� �������� ��� ����� � � ��������
��6�� ���%��� ������������ ��� ������ ����������
�����&��

���%� /&�� 9������� ������ ���� +��%��������
�������������

���� ; �� ������������� �������� �������������
	���� ���� ������ ���� �� 	���� ���"�� � � ������
������&��������������������������������	�����
��� ��� 	������� ��������������� ���� 	�����
������������������"�������������������������; ��
���������!����A��������
����������������"3�

• ���%���� ������"�� 2������������ ���
�������*�

• A������������2����������������������*�
• ��6������������	����*�
• �����������*�
• A��������������*�
• �

• A�����*�
• +��������������*�
• -�������������������*�
• A������"�������"��������������������*�
• ��	�������������"�����*�
• ��������� � � ������ ��� ���������

���������������*�
• �����������������������������������*�
• -��������������;���������"�����*�
• 9����'��"�����*�
• ;�������� ���� �������� ������

���������������"�����*�
• -�������������������������*�
• !���,� ��"��:������ ���� ��������������

�������*�
• ���������*�����
• �������������������&�

�
�����������������	�������������������������������
���� ������ ��)�������� ����  ����� ����������
��"������	����"�����"���"�������������������"�
� � ���� �������� ��������� ��������� ��� ����
���%���� ���� �������� ����� �����&� � ����
������������� 	���� ����� ������� ���� ���	�� � �
���%��������� ��"�����"� ���� �������� ������� � �
�������"���6����������&��

���%�/&0�=�����
������#����������������$�

���  ������� �������� 	���� ���%���������  ���� ���
 ���� ������������� ������ ��� �������%��� ���� ��
������� � �  ����� "�����&� � ����� 	����� ����	�
������������� ��� �� ����� ����������� �������
	����%������%���������������������������������
������&��+������ �����"������������������������
	���� ��� �"����� ��� ������������� 	���� ��������
!����"������������������������������������
����������������������������	��������������!��
�  ����&� =����� "������ ������ ��� ����� 	���� ����
 ����	��"� "������ � � ������,� ��	����� �����
	���������"���������������������3�

• B���������������  ���� ���� ���%����
�����*�

• B���������������  ���� ���� A������� �����
�����*�

• B�"���������,� A������",� ��"�	����
���������������������������������������*�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 31



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

(�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

• ;����������B��������������*�����
• A�����,� ���������������� � � ���������

��������,��� ����������������&�
�
9������� �������  ��� ����6������ �  ����  �����
"������ ��� ��� ����� ��� ���� ����� ���&� 9�� ����
������ ��� ��������  �������  ����� "������ � �
��������&�

������������� 	���� ���� ������ 	���� ����	� ��� ���
�������� ��� �� ���"�� � � ������� ��������"� �������
��������,� �������� �������,�  ����,� ��������
�������,� ��������� ��� ���� �������� ��������"�
������,� �  ����� � � ����"��� ��� ������� ���&��
������������� 	���� ����������������  ����
��"���������,� �������"� ������"�	���� �  ������
	����  ����� ��� ���� ����� � � ��6��� ���� ����  ������
������������  ��� ��������� ��� ����� 	���� ����
�������� ��"���������� ����  ������ ������  ��� ����
�����"�&�9����������������������������� �����
��)��� ��	�  ���� ������� ������ ��� �������� ��	��
������� ���� ����� ������"� 	����� ����	� ����
������������� � � ����� �������������� ��� ��6��
���������� ��� ��� �������"����&� �������������
	���� ������ ���������� ����������	���� ������� ���
��� ���������� ���� ������������� ���	���� ����
���%���� ���� �������� ����� ������ ���� ������
������� �������������������&��������������	����
��������� ���������������� 	���� ��� ����� ���
����������������"��� �"����������������"�����"�
��6�� ���������� ��� ���� !����"�� ��������"�
	������� ������"� ���� �������� ������ ��������
�������	���������� ��� �  ���� ��� ��������������
� ����%��������	���������������&��������������
	��������A��������������������������� ����������
���������	���� ������� ��� ��� ������� ���� ������ � �
����������������������������������������������
���������� ���6���������������"����� ����"�������
�������&� � ������ �������� �  ������ 	���� ���
��������� ��� ��6�� �������	���� �������� �������� �����
 ����� "����&� � ����� ��� ��%���� ��� �������� �������
�  �����,��������������������������������  �����&���

���%�/&/�������+������#����������������$�

����; ��"����������������������"������������
��� ������������� 	���� ���� ������ ��������� 	����
���� �����&� � ��� �������� �  ��������� 	���� ����
�������� � � ���� �����,� �� ������ ������� ���� ���

�������%��&�2�����"�������� �����������,� �����
��������� �6������� 	����� �������� �� �������
���������������������,��	����������������������
�������&�5�����������������������������������	�
���� ������ ������� 	����� �������� ���
������������ ���  ����� ����������� ���� 	��%��"�
����������� ���������������������&�

��������� ������������	����������3�

• ������������ �6�������� ������������� ����
��%��������*�

• �������� ��������� ��� ���� ����������
���� ���������������� ������������������ �
�������������*�

• �������� ��3� ���� ������ ������� � �
���%����*�  ����*� ���� ��������"�
����������*��

• �������� ��� 	������� �������"� ���� ������
��� ���%���� ������"��� ��������� 	�����
�  ���� �� ���� ���������� ���� ��������
����������*�

• �������� ��� ���� ������� ���� ��������� � �
���%�*��

• ����������������������� ����������������
���������������*�

• ���%� ��������� ��� ��������� ���� �� ����
�������� ��������*�����

• �������� ���� ������ ������� � � ��������� ���
������������

�
�����������	������������"��������������������
	��������������������	�����������������������
���� ����� � ��� ���� �������� #��� ����� ����� ����
�����������������������������$&�������	�	�����
���� ���� ������� �����"�&� 2�� ��� ������������
������	������������������������������������ �
� � ���� �������� ���� 	�� 	���� ��� �������� ���
�������� �� �����  ��� ����� �����	�� ��������� ����
������������ ��� ������� �������� ��������������
��������������������&���

���� ������� �������� 	���� ��� ��������� ��� ����	�
 ��� ���� ����������"� ���	�� � � ���� ������ ��� ���
��������&�

���� �������� ��"��� ����  ��� ����� ������� � � ���
	������ ��� ������� ����� ���� ���	�� ����"�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 32



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

?�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

�6��������������������������������������������
��������������� � � ���� ������ �������&� � 5�� �����
��������� "������� ����"��� ����� ���� ��������"�
��������� � � ���� ������ ���� ���� ��  ������
���������� � � �������� ����� ���� ���%����
������"��&�

�
������"� ��� �����
�,����������

������������
9��������������������������� �������������� ���
�������� ������ ����"������� ��� ���� ��� ��������
���� ������� ���%���� ������"�� ������������ �����
�������� �������� ��� ������� �� ����������&��
A��������� ��� �������� 	���� ��� ���������  ��� ��
�������� ������������������"�

• ��������������������*�
• ������ ��������������*��
• ��������������������*�����
•  ����&�

�
5�� ��������,� ���� �������� � � ���� ������ 	���� ���
���������	���������?��������������������������
���� ����	����&� 2�����"�� ������ ���� ����������
��  �������� ��� ������,� ����������� ���� ��������
���,� ���	���� ���������,� ����� ��� ��� "�������
������������ ���� ��� ��������� ����"� �����
������&� ���� ������������ ���� �������������
��� ������������"������������� �����������������
�� 	����� �����6�&� � ����� ���� ����� �6��������
��� ��� ��� ���	��"� ����������� ������������
������ ���� �6�������� ���� �6����� � � ��"�� ������
������������&�

������3� .� ����
��
2���� ������ ������������	���������������&������
 ����� ������� 	���� �������� ����������������
������������������ ����	��"�������3�

• 	������� ������ ��� ��"�� ������ ������
������� ��� �������� ���� � � ������ ��� ����
�������� ��������������������������������
��*�

• ��������������� ��	������������������� �
���%���� ������"��� �������� �������
��������������*�

• ��� ����������� � � ���� �������  ���
����������������������������*�

• �� �������� � � ���� �������� � � ����
������������*�����

• �������������� �������������������	����
�������������������&�

�
9��	��������������������� �����"��� ������������
�������
�������"������������������������������
������������������ �����"������ ����������������
��������������������������������������������"�
��%��&�

$��)������
�����
��
2� ����� � � ���� ��������� ���)���� ����� ���
���������� ��� =�"���� �&�&� ����� ������ ���� %���
������������� �����"����� ���� ������	�����	����
����������������"����)��������������&�

9�� ������ �� �����"� ��������� ��� ���)����
����"������ ����� ���  �������� ������� ����
!�������� -6��������� �����,� 	����� 	�� �����
�������� ��� ������� ���������"� ������������
������� ���� ������ � � ���� ��������&� <���
���"�������  ��� ������������ �������� ����
@A��)���� -6��������'� ���"�����,� 	����� ���
������ ��� ��������"� ���)���� ����"������
�����"���������������������� ��� ��� :���������
���� �����	� � � ���)���� ����"������
��� �������&�A��)����-6�������������"����������
���� ���� � � ��"����� ������� �������������� ��� ��
����������� ������������)���������	������������
������������ �������������� ��������&� �����
�������� ���� ��  ��������� ������"� ��� ���
����"���������������������������&��

9�� ��	����  ����� ��� ���������"� ���� �����
��������� ������  ��� ������  ��� ���� �������&�
+���������  ����� ��������� ��������������)����� ���
������� ����� ���� ������� ��)�������� ���� ��������,�
������"�� ���� "������� ��������� ��� ��� �������
�����	������ ��������� ���������� ����������%����
���%&�


�������������
������	������������������������������������"�
������������ ����� ��� ����� ��� ��������� ��������&��
������	���������� ����������%�� ����  ����	��"�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 33



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

���
������	�
�����
������������������������������

��������� ��� ������� ���� ��������� � � ����� �����
#���%��������������������������������$3�

• �������%��������������	�����������������
��� �� ���������� �"����&� � ������	� ����
	��%��� ��������	����!����2���	� ��� ����
����&� !���� 2���	� ������� 	����
������	'�������������������������������
�6��������� � � 	��%��"� 	���� ��� ��� ��
�������� � ������� ��6�������������&�9��
���������������!����2���	���������������
����������  �����������������&��

• ������	����  � ��������
������  ����	����
��%�� ����������� ������� ��� ���� ���%�
�����"� ���� �������� ��� ������� ����� �����
���� ����"� ���������� ��������&� � +������
���  � 	���� ��� ���� ��� ��� �� ������	�
��������&� � 5�� ��������� 	�� 	���� ��������
�����"�������� �6C�����������"������ �����
��� �� ����� ����� ��������� ��������� ���
����	� ��� ��� ����%� ���� �����  ��� ����
���������������&� � ������ 	���� ����� ���
���������� ���� ���� ��������� �����
���������&�

• 9����� �����������,� ���%�� 	���� ���
��������� ��������������� ��� ��������
���������  ����	��"� ���� ���������&��
��	����,� 	�� ������� ����� ��� ��������
��������������������������������%��������
�������� ��� ���� �����������������	�����
���� ����"���� ��� ������� ����� �����"����

��� ����������������&�4������������"����
���� ���������� ��� ������	� ���� �����
������� ����� �������"��� ���� ��� ����
��������������������&�

• =�����"��:�������� ���	��	������"�������%�
���� ������������&� A�����"��� ���� ����
������� ����	�����"����������������������
���� ��  ������ ���  ���� �� ���������"��&� � !��
��������"� ���� ��������� � � ����� ����
������"� ���� ���%� 	�� ���� ����%�  ���
����������������������������������������&�

• ������	�  ����	�� ���%��� B��������
+������� #�B+$� ���������� ���� �����
��������� ��� ���� ���� ���%��� ��������� ����
������������� ����������&� 9�� ����� �������
	�����B+� "�������� ��� �������%��"� ���
��������������&�9����	����������������%�
������������������������������������ ����
������������ ��� ������ ��� �������%�� ��
��K����������������%�������������&���

�

$��)����������(��
��
2� ����� � � ���� ��������� ���)���� ����� ���
���������� ��� =�"���� �&�&� ����� ������ ���� %���
������������� �����"����� ���� ������	�����	����
����������������"����)��������������&�����������
	����� ��%�� �����6�������� ��� 	��%��  ����
��������������������������&�5 ���������������
������������� ����������������	���������������
�������� ������%�� ����������� ��� �������)����
�������������������&�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 34



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

���
������	�
�����
������������������������������

=�"�����&�3�A��)�������������� �

week commencing 09
/0

4/
20

12

16
/0

4/
20

12

23
/0

4/
20

12

30
/0

4/
20

12

07
/0

5/
20

12

14
/0

5/
20

12

21
/0

5/
20

12

28
/0

5/
20

12

04
/0

6/
20

12

11
/0

6/
20

12

18
/0

6/
20

12

25
/0

6/
20

12

02
/0

7/
20

12

Stage 1
 Inception Meeting
Stage 2
Rank Review
Stage 3
Measuring Unmet Demand
Stage 4
Public Consultation
Stakeholder Consultation
Trade Survey (option)

Face to Face Consultation  (option)
Stage 5
Comparison with other authorities
Stage 6
Reporting
Deliverables DR FR

2-13th April (Easter Holidays) No observations
7th May, 4-5th June (Bank holiday weekend) No observations  

 

�

�

�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 35



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

���
������	�
�����
������������������������������

6�������1�����
���
�
������	� 
����� 
������� ��� 5+<?���3����� ����
5+<�/���� ����������&� ������	L�� ��������
���������� ������,� AB5+5�,� ����� ������ ����
������������� � � !+((���  ��� �� ����
����"�����&� � � =��� ����� ��	� �����������
������	� �������� �� ���)���� �������� ����� #AMA$�
������������������������������������AB5+5�&�

���� ������	� ���)���� ����"��,� ��������� ����
���������� ��� ������� ���  ,� ��� ������������  ���
����������"� ��������� ���� �������"� �������)����
���  � ���� �	���� � � ��&� 2��� ���  � ����� ����� ����
������� �����������"�	��%�����������)����������
������� � � ��������� ���  � ��� %���� 	������ ����
AMA&�������	L�� ��:������M2����  ��������%���
��"������������� �AMA��������������������������
������������������&�

6���������
�����
AB5+��

������	� ��������� ��� ����������� ���������
������� ����� ������ 	���� ���� ���������� ������
���������������������� �����������������	�����	��
�������&� � ���� ��������� ������� ��� ����"����
����������� ����	��"����"��3�

• 2"�������� �����	3� ����� ���������
����������� ��� ������� ����� ���� ��������
����������� ���� ������ ���� �����������
����������������"���"��������������������� �
���� ���)���&� � 9�� �������� ��� ����������
������"�	�����������������������"�����  �
���������������&�

• A������"� ���� �������3� ����� ���������
����������� ��� ������� ����� 	��
����������� 	��� ��� "���"� ��� ��� 	����
���� ��� 	���&� � ���� �������� ���"������
��������� 	���� ����� ��������� 	���� ���
�����	��� ���� ��"������� �������&� � ����
���"������ 	���� ��� ����� ��� �� ������  ���
"��"��"� ���"����� ��� ����������"�� ������
���� ����������&� 2� ����"������ �����
	�������	����������������	����"�����������
��������������������������������������,�

���� �������� ���� ����%��"� ����
��������������&�

• ���������"� ���� �����	3� � � ���� ���)����
����"��� 	���� ��"������� �����	� ����
������� ��� ���"����,� � 2�� ���� ���� � � ����
������ 	�� 	���� ������� ���� ���������� ���
��������  ������%� ����"� �� �������
����������� ������� ���� ������� 	���� ���
��%��� ��� ����� 	���� ���� ������ � �
����������������������������� �������&��

• B����3� ���� ���)���� ����"��� 	���� ���
������������  ��� ������� ����,� ���%� ����
���������� ����"�����,� �������"�
����������� 	���� ������	'�� ���������
�������,� �������",� ���� ��� ���� ��������
	������������������������������"&�5 �����
���� �������� ������ �������",� ���� ����
���%�����������)��������"������������	����
������������������������&�

�
;�����������!��"���

������	�����"�����������	��%��"�������"�������
���������� ���������� ���������������"������� �
���� ������&� =��� ����� ������� 	�� �������� ����
�������� ���� �������� � � ������"� ����	��%��"� ���
�������"���&�=����������)����,����� ��������%�������
������� ����� ���� ������ � � 	��%,� ��������
��������� ���� ����������� ���� ������"����
����������� ��� ����� ������	� ���� ���� ������,�
���� ����� ���� ���)���� ���� ��������� �������� ����
�������������� ���&��

<��� ����� �������� ����  ���������"� ������� ���
2"�����,� �� ��	�� ��� ���� ����������������
����"������ ��������� �� ��������� �� �	����
�����,� ��� 	�����  ��������� ���� ���"���� ����
"��������� ����"� ������� ������ ��������&� =����
����� �� ��������� ���� A��)���� ����"��� ���,�
	���� ��������� ��%�� ����������� ������� �������"�
�������%�"�����%�����������"�����,�����������
������������������������������������������������
�  ��������� ������ �� ���� ������ � � ���� ��������
����������������"��&�

�

�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 36



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

�0�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

;����������������

;�������� ��� ���"������ ��� ��� ����"���� ����� � �
���� ��"������ ��������� �������&� ���� ������	����
��� �������� ��� ��� �"����� ���"�����,� 	����
��"����� ���������"� �����"� ����� ���"�� � � ����
���)���&� !�� ��"����� ���������",� ���� A��)����
����"��� 	���� ����������� 	���� ���� ����
��������� � � ��� ����� ��� ����������,� ��� �� ���"��
	���� ������� ���� ��� ��%��&� 2�� ���� ������ ����
A��)���� ����"��� 	���� ������� 	���� ���� ������� ���
%������������������ ������� ����"����&�

�

�

�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 37



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

�/�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

�� �� ����
���
�

�%�� �
���������
�
������	�������	������� ��6���������	����������
��6�� ���%��&� � <��� ��6�� ���%��� �6��������� ����
��� ��������� ��� ������ ��������,� ������ �������
�������,� +�����"��� A������ +������,� ���� �6�����
���������� ���� ����"������ �������&� � ������	�
����������������%���������������������������
� � ��� ����������� ������ �����������&� 5�� ���.�
������	� ���������� ��� ������ ������� ������
 ��� �������� !����"�� �������&� ���� ������
�������� ���� ���������� ���������� ����
+����������2�������� ����� �� "���� �������������
� ���6����������"�����������&�

�%�� 4
����
���
��������
�� ����
���

������	���� ���� ������"����������� �+��������>�
�������� � � ����������� ���%���� ������"��
���%���&� �+������??1�	����������������������
�0.�����������������������������0&������	&�

5�� ��������� ��� ������ �0.� �������,�;��A����,� ����
������ ������ +���������� 2������� ���� ���� ��
��������������������������"��"��� �������./����
���� ������� �?(>:�??>&� ������	� ���  � �����
����� ���� ���������� �� ��"�� ������ �����������
� � ���� ���� +������� �>� �������� �������������
������ �?(>� ��%��"� ��� ���� ����� �6����������
�������� ��� ���� ���������� � � ����� ����� � �
�������������������������78&�8�����8������,�����
���������� A��)���� ����"��� ���� 	��%��� ���
��6�����%���������� ������������1���������������
����"��� ����� � � ���� ������� ��������  ���
������	&� ������	'�� ����������� ��� ������ ���
��������"� ��������� ���� ����������� ��)�������
������������"�� ������������������&�9�������
����� ��	������"��� ����������� ��� ����"����������
���� ���������� � � �6����� ���������� D� ����� ��� ��
%�����  ����������� ���������	&�

�%�� ������������������
����� � � ���� +������� �>� �������� �����
������������������	��������"��� �������������

������� ���� ������� � � ��������� ��������� ���
����� �� ������ ������&� � 2���������� ���������
������	���������������������3�

• ��6�����%��������������������*�
• ������� ��� ��"�������� ����"�� D�

������������,� ������������� �����������
� ���������������*�

• ������� ���  ����� ������� ����  ����� ������"�
����������*�

• ������� ��� ���%� ����"������� ����
	������	��*�

• �����������*�
• ���� ������ ���� ��� �������� � � ���������

����������*�
• ���� ������������� ���	���� ��6��� ���� ����

��"��:������������*�
• ������  ��� ���%����� ���� �������� ����� ���

���� ��������� ��������� ���� �����������
�����*�

• ���� ������������� � � ����"��� �����"�  ���
����*�

• N����"�������*�
• ������������ � � ��� ����� ������������� � �

��������	��������N����"������������*�
• ������������������� ��������������*�
• ������������������ ���:�����������*�
• ������������������*�
• ��	������������������"�*�
• ���������������%���	�*�
• ��������  ��� ���������"� ��"�� ������

����������������	���� �������������*�
����

• �����������������������������

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 38



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

�.�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

�
������0&��+��������>�+��������������������������	�

7���� ������,�,����  ��
����(������	����,�
��������������

�??1� !�� ���,��������"�,�=�����������,�����������,�B�����"�

�??(�
!�� ���,�!���%����,�!����������,�!������,�������%,�����������,�4�����"���,�4�����;����,�
+��  ����,�+���� ���,�+���������,�9������%�

�???�
�������"�,� �������� 
�� +�����,� ���"�����,�;�����,� -���������,� -6����,�����,� A���������"�,�
+����,�+����������,�9�������������

����� !�� ���,�����������,��������A����,�
����,�����������,�+�������,�+�����B�����,��������%&�

�����
!����������,������  ,�����	���,� -������"�,�-���������A���,�O�4����������������,� +� ���,�
������"�,�9��������,�
���������

����� !���%����,�!��� ���,�!��"�������������,�!������,�������%,�;��� ���,�;�����,�-6�����

���0�
�������%,�9������������,�!���%����,������� ���,�<�����,�+��  ����,��������"�� ���������
�	�
�����
����

���/� !���%����,�������,�����������,�B������������,�����������,�
������,�B���������

���.�
9������������,� 4�����"���,� �������,� 9���� =�����,� !���%����,� +����������,�
!����������,�����	���,�+���������,�9�"��,�
���������

���>� !��"�������������,�����,����  ���,��������%,�������,�A�������,�!������,�!���%�����

���1�
+��  ����,�9������������,������  �����������	�
�������
��������!�������,�-���������A��������
4�����,�
����,�!��� ���,�����������,�-6�����

���(�
B������������,� ����� � � P��%,� +������",� 
����� #��� ������ �����$,� ������"�,� +	�����,�
B�� ��	�����,� 4����� ��������,� -������"�,� +��������"�,� A������,� +����������,�
B��������,�+���������,�!����	,�!����O�4-�+��������

���?�
!��������,� B�������,� ����,� +�������� ��� +��,� !��"����� ���� ����,� 
��������,� 
��������,�
<6 ���,�!���%����,�4-�
������������

�����
A�����,� +� ���,� ;����,� !����"���%�,� ;��������,� 9���� !��%�����,� A���������"�,� ���	���,�

���������

�����
+���������,�����	����#������%,�B�������������A��	���$,�������,�9�����,������� �P��%,�=� �,�
+�����������

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 39



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

�>�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

5�� ��������� ��� ���� �����,� ������	� ����
����������������������������������������	�����
�������� � � ��6�� ��"�������&� � ������	� 	���
���������� ��� ���� 5�������6��B�"������'��A������
���� B�������� ������������ �����&� A����������
������	� 	��� ������������� ��� 	��%�
����"�������� ��������� ������������ ���;������
��� ������ ��� �������� �� B�"�������� 5������
2������������������������������ �����5�������6��
���%��&�

������	� ���������� �� �����������  ��� ����
<  ���� � � =���� ������"� ��� ������� ��� ����
 ����������� �����	� � � ���� �  ����� � �
��"�������������6�������&������������	���	����
���"��"� ��� ���� ������� ���� ���	����������	'��
����������� �6��������� ���� �6�������� ��� �����
���%��&� �������	������������ ���"���������� �
���%� ������������� ���� ������� �������������
����� ��������� � ���� ����������&�+������������
������	� 	��� ������������� 	���� -������
-��������� ��� �������� ��� ����������� � � ����
���0���6�����%���+�����  ��� ����<  ���� � �=����
������"&� �2������� � � �����	��%�	�� ����������
� ���� �������� ��� ������������ ��� ���� ���� �  ����� �
���������������"��&�

5�� ���0� ������	� �������� ���� ; �� ��� ����
����������������������������� ��������������6��
��������� ��� ���� ���� ��� +�������� ��� ��� ��� � � ����
����������2��� �?(.&� ���� ������	��� ������ ���
�������� � � ��������"� ������������ ��� "��"��
�6��������� ���� %��	���"�� � � ���� ������� ���
 ���������������� ���"��"�� ����������*� ����� �
��������������������������������������� ���������
����� ������&� � ������	� ��������%� �� ������  ���
����� � �P��%��������� ������������� ���� �  �����
� � ��� ������������ ��� �� ������� � � �����������
�����������&� ����������������� �������������� �
������������ ����� ���� ��� ����������� ��� ��������
���������� �����"���"��	����������%����������
�  ����� 	���� ��"���� ��� ���"������,� ���������
����������,� ��������� �������N�&�

������	� ���������� �� ������ ��� �����  ���
�������"�� �������� ��� ������� ���� ����������
������� ���� 	��%�������� � � �� ������� ��6��
������� ������� ���� ���������&� 2� ��)���
������������� �6������� 	��� �������%��� ����
������� "����� ��� ����  ����������� � � ������� ��6��
�������������������&��

������	������������������� ���+��  ����������
�������� ��� ������� �� ���"�� � � ��������� � � ����
��6�� ���� �������� ����� ���%��&� � 5�� ��������� ���
��������"�	���������������������������������
���� ������ 	���� ���%� ��� 	������� ������ ��� ���
����������� � � ���%����&� � ������������� ��� ��
��)������������ �����������	�������������������
����� ������� ���������� ��� ��6�� ���%�,� �������
��������� ���� ���� ������������� ���	���� ��6���
�����������������	��������������������������&�

������	���������������������������6������� ���
B�����"� !����"�� �������� ��� ���������� ����
�  ���� � � �������"� ���� ���������� ������ ���
���%����������"��&� ����� ������ ����������	����
���%��������� �����"�� �� ������� � � �����������
"������ ���� 	���� ���� "������� ������� �����"��
 ������� �����������&�

������	� ����� ���������� �� �������������
�6�������  ���9�� ����!����"���������� ��������
� ���E��������B����	�������������������  ����� �
�������"� ���� ���������� ������ ��� ���%����
������"��&� � ���� ������ ���������� 	����
���%��������� �����"�� �� ������� � � �����������
"������ ���� 	���� ���� "������� ������� �����"��
 ������� �����������&�

������	�����������������������������	�� �����
��6����������"� �������� ���9�������������&������
	���� ���"��"� �����	� ��������� ����
�������������� � � ��� �������� ��������� ����
�6��������������������&�

5������,�������	�	������������������������ �
���� ������"� ���� ���� ����� ��������� "������ ���
�������� �� ����  ����������� ������ ����� ����

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 40



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

�1�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

����������  ��� ������ ����� ���� ��6�� ���%��&� � ����
������ ����� �� A�-� ����� ��� �� ����� ������ ����
��������� ��������� ���%��� ��������� ����
�������������"�
5+������������ ������ �����%���
��"������	�������6�����������������������"��
�������������&�

���� ��������� ��6����� ������ � � �???C�����
��������� �� 	���� ���"��"� �����	� � � ����
����������  �����6�������������������������������
��������� ��� ������� �������� ���������&� � 5��
����������������	�� ����������������%���� �����
��%�� ��� ���� ������,� �6�������� �������������
	���� ���������� ���������,� �� �����	� � � ����
��"�������������	��%������	��������������&��

5�������������	������������������������������
������ � � ����� � � � ���� ���������� 
����
���������� 2��������&� ���� ������ ��������� ����
���������� � � ������� ������,� ��������������
��������%��"� ���� ���� ������������ � � �� ��6��
����� ��������������	�����������������������
���� �������� � � ��6�� ��������� ������� 
�������
8�����
�����&���

5���???�������	������������������������������
������ ��� ����� � � � ���� B����� � � 2��� ;����&��
���� ������ ��������� ��������"� ����"������
������������ ������� ��� �������� � � ����
��������������� �����	������������6����������
��������"� ���� ��������� ����� ���� ����"�������
	�������"��������������&�

�%!� 8��������
���  ������ ����
���
< � ���� �.�J� �������� ������ �����,� ����� ����� ���
�������� ������������ ��� ��������"�������������&���
=������� �������� ���� ��� ���������  ���� ����
������������ ����������&� 5�� �������"� ������	�
��������������������������� ���������������������
����� ���������"�����������&�

+��  ����&�5�������??�������"������%�����������
��������� ��� +��  ����� ���	�� ������ �"������
+��  ����� ����� �������'�� �� ����� ��� "����� ��
���%�����������&�;��A�����	��������������6�����

	������� ���� ���� ������� �������������  �����&��
����������"��������)�����������&�

+�������&� 5�� ���� �??(� ���� ������� ��� �(�
�������� ����� �������� 	��� ������ ��� !��������
���	�� ������ �"������ +�������� !����"��
�������'�� �� ����� ��� ������ �����	���� ���%����
��������&� � ���� +����,� ���������� ����� �	��
������ �������,� ���� ������ ���� �� ��"�� ������
������ ������� ���� ������������ �0�
����������� ������&� ���� 2��������� ������� ����
������������������������������������������������
	�����������������������������&� �+�������� � ����
��������������� �� ����� ��� ������� ����� � ������
�0� ���� ��������� ��� ���� ����� � � ��������"� ��
������ 	������� ����� �� ���������&� � ����
����������� ������ ��� �6����� �������� 	���
��������������������� �����+�������������������
� ��.�������&��;��A���������������6�����	�������
��� ����� � � � +�������� !����"�� �������� ����
������� 	��� ���� ����� 	������� ������� ��� ����
���������&� ���� ������"� ��������� �� ���������
�6���������� � � ;�� A����'� ��������� ����
���������������� ����� �	�� ����&� � 2��� �(�
�������� �����&�

+����&�������	��������������������������� �� �
+�����������������������������
�����???&��-�������
��� ���� ����� <����� =����� #����������� =�����
�����������	�2����$����������������������,�
������������ ��� ����� ��������� ���� ����
���������,�  ����	��"� ����� ������,� ���� ����� ��
+��������>�������&�����E��"��	�����������������
� �����=��������������������&�

+����� ��� �����:�������,� ��N����� ���� ���� �?�
���%����� ���� ����� �� �������� �������� ����&��
������	� ������ ���� �� ��"�� ������ ������
������������������������������������� ����
��������&� ����� 	����� ���������� ���������� ����
������"��������&�;����������������E��"�� �����
����� ��6� ����������� ��������� 	���� ��������� ���
���������� ���� ��"�� ������ ������ ������,� ����
 ���&� ����� 	��� ��  ������� ��� ����	� ����
2��������� ���� ���� 	� �� ��� �������� ��������,�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 41



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

�(�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

��%��"� �������� � � ������ ������� ��� ����	�����"�
����&� ���� E��"�� ������ ������� ������� ���
���������,� ���� ������� ��	�,���� ���� �������  ���
����� �������� ����  ���� ����� ���� ������ ���	���
�������� ����� ������ 	��� ���� �������  ���
���%�����������������,���������2�������������
��� ��:2��������� ��������� ��� ����������� �����
�����	�����	��%�������������&�

������	� ������� ���� �6����� ���������� 	����
���������� ��� ���� ������"� ��� ��� G������"�,�
��������,����� ����������������H&���

������	�������������� �������6����������������
������� ����������"� ����� ����� ��������"� ����
��������������� � � ����	�����"� ����� #������	����
������ ��  ������ ��������� ���������� ��� ����
�����$� ����� ��������� ��� ���� E��"�� ����"� �����
����� ������� ��� ����	� ����� �������  ���� ����
������&� ���� ���������� ���,� ��� ������	'��
������� ����������� ��� ������ �	�� ��������� ����
�����  ���  ���� ������ ���������"� ��� ����� ����
����������������"������������������&�

����������� #2����� ����$&� ����� ���������,�
��"��"����� ����� ��"��� N����,� ���� �6�
�����������"� ���� ������� � � ��������� ���� ������
������ N����� � � ������"� ��N�&� ���� �������
������������ ���������� � � N����",� ����������
� � ������ �������� ��� ���� �6� ���� ���� �� ���"� � �
������ �������� ��� ���� ������ �������� N����&� 4��
��"�� ������ ������ ������� 	��� ������ ����
����"�� ������ 	���� ����������"� ��������
������������� ��� ����� N���&� ���� 2��������� ����
���� ���������� ����� ���� ��	� ��������� ������� ���
	���������� ����������&� ���� ���������� ����
����������"� �������������  ��� �	�� ��������� ���
����������N���&�����������������	����� �����
��� "������� � � ��� ��"�� ������ ������ �������
�������	����������������������	����	����������
�������������������&� �������	���������� �6�����
���������� ����"�� ���� ����� ������� ���������
������� ���� ������ � � �������� ����������� �������
����� ������ �������� #������ ���� 2��������� ����
�  ��������� �������� ���� ������ ��� ���� N���� ���

��������$� ���� ���� ������� 	��� ��)������ � ����
�������  ������ ������ ������"�	���� ���� ����������
���%��"�������������&�

9�������������#E��������$&��	���������������
�������� ��������� ��� 9������������� ���	��
������ �"������ ���� �������'�� ��������� ��� �� ����
��������&������������	����&.�������������������
������ � � ���� ������� 	��� ����� ���� �� ���������
	��� ���� � � ����&� 9������������� ����
����������� ������� �� ������� � � ���������
 ����	��"� ����  �����"� � � ��"�� ������ ������
������&����������������	������	������������
� � ���� ������"� ���� ��� ;�� A����'� ��������� ���
�������������	������������������%�� ������"����
������ ������	'�� #����� ����������$� �����,� ����
�����������	����������&�

!������� #E���� ���0$&� � !������� ��������� ��  ����
������ ������� ���	���� �??1� ���� ����&� � 5��
;�������� ����� ���� ���������� �������� ���
������������ ������ �������&� � ���� 2����������

����� � � 4�	������� ���������  ��� 0�� ���������
��� ����"�������� ���"�� ������������������&��
���� ������"� ���������� ��� !������� ���	��
���������0�E�������0�����	�����)�������������
������ +���������  ����	��"�;�� A����'� ���������
#�������������� �����$&������������"�����������
��� +��������� ����  ����	��"� ���������
�6���������� ���� �������'�� ��������� 	���
������&�

+������� ������ �������� ����� ��������� ���
����"������ ����� ���� ����� ������������� ��������
�������� �����&� � 5�� !���%����,� ������	� 	���
���������� ������������� �����������'�����������
	���� �������� ��� �� +������� �>� 2�����&� � ����
�������� 	��� ������"� ��� ��� ��:������ ������&��
������	� �������� �"������ ���������"� ����
������������ ���� ���� �������� 	��� ������&� � 5��
!������,����������������������E��������B����	�
 ����	��"� ���� �������'�� ��������� ��� ������  ����
������� ���� �����  ���  ���� �����&� � ����� �������
	���� ������� ������	'�� ��������������� � �
�(� ����������� ������� ��� ���������� ��"�� ������

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 42



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

�?�
������	�
�����
������������������������������

������ ������&� � 5�� !����������,� �� ���"��
"������ �������������������������"�������������
	���� ������������ ��������� ���������������� �
���������  ����	��"� ��  �����"� � � ��"�� ������
������ ������&� � 2 ���� ��� �6����"�� � �
��������������� ��� ���� ����������� � � ����
������,�������������	����	������	�&��5���������
A����� ���� ������ � � 2������ ��)������ ����
���%���� �����'�� ������ ����� ���� ���������� ����
������ ����	 ����� ��� ���� ��������� ��� ��:���������
�����&� �;���������������������������"���������
��������� ����� ��������  ��� 1�� ��������&� � 2�
���������� ������� 	��� ����� ���� �������� 	���
������"� ��� �� ������ ����� ���� ������&� � ������	�
	��� ���� ������� ��� �������� ���� ��������� ����
	��� ��� ������������� � ���������"���  ����	:���
�����������������&�

�%"� .�	���
����
+������� ������� �������� �������� ����� �����
�������%��� ��� ����	���,� !����"���%�� ����
!���%����&�

�

�

�

�

����	������������

����	���� �������,� ������%� �����,�
A�����+�����,������,�����	�����B���-!�

���!���������

����?�>�//�1�

!��&�����Q����	���&"��&�%��

�

!����"���%������;��������������

������<  ����,�
������B���,�!����"���%�,�
���������,�B
���/2��

���2����	�9�%��

���.>�(/.1(1��

�����	&	�%�Q�����"���%�&"��&�%�

�

!���%�������������


�������"� +������,� 9���"���� �����,� A<�
!�6� ��1,� +������� 
���� 
���,� !���%����,�
=P/���+�

�������B������

���.0�/1(0�.�

���&������Q����%����&"��&�%�

�

�

�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 43



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

���
������	�
�����
������������������������������

!� ���		�
��
�

!%�� ������/����
����������  ��������6�� ����������������"������
�����6�����������6������������������������� ����&��
������������������������	��%�����������������
��������������������� ��������� 0&�&� �2���� � ����
������ ������������������ �����"���� ������	����
����� ��������� ��� �������� ����� �������� ����
����������������������������� �����&������������
����� ����  �����  �������� 	���� ���� ������� !����
A��������
���������������������%���������������
� ��������%��"� �������� �����������&��������"�
��� ��6�� �������� ��"��������� ��� �������%���
��"������� 	���� ���� ������ ����� ��� ������ ���
������� ����� ���� ������������� ���� %���� ��� ���
����� 	���� ����� ��	� ���� ����� ��� ���	���
���������� ��� ���������� ���� �����"� ����
��������������6������&�

������	� �������� ����� %��	���"�� �����"�� ����
��������� @
������'� ���"������ 	������� ���  '��
�%����� ���� �6��������� ���� ��������� ����
����������"������&�

<������������������������6��������
����� ��
�
$����,� *1� $�
9� ���8/&� � ��� 	���� ���
������������  ��� ���������� ������� �����"�����
���������,���������"� ���� ��������������������
����������� ����"������ �������&� � 9����
�6��������� ������������.��+��������>���������
����� �/� �����,� ��� ��� ����78'�� ������"� ��������
�����������%��&��;��A�����������������������	'��
���)���� ������ ��� ���� ������� �������� ��������"�
���� ���.� ������ ��� �������� ���� �������� ���
����� � � � ���� ; �� ���� < �&� � ;�� A����� ���
������	'��@�6�����	������'��������������������
����"�������������&�

���� A��)���� ����"��� 	���� ���:����� :���
���
*��9� ���� �� +������ ����������� 	������ ����
�����������������"�"����&�8����������6��������
�6���������� ���������6�����%�������������������
����� ��������� ��� ��������� ��6�� ���������
�������� ������������ ��������"� ���� ������	'��

������� �����������&� 8����� ���� ���������
����"��� ������������ ��� ����� � � �
+����������,� ����� � � P��%,� !��"����� ����
����� ���� B��������&� 8����� ���� �����
�������%�����6���������	��%� �������5�������6��
B�"������,� ����<  ���� � � =���� ������"� ���� ����
����������
������������������������&��8�����
���  �������� ��������	���� ���� �������� �����!����
A��������
�������&�8�����	��������������������
 �������������� ������������������������� ����)����
��������&� 8����� ���� �� �������� ��"���� ���
���������� A������"� ���� ��� �� ������� � � ����
����������A������"�+������&�

8����� ���� +������� 	���� ��� ���������� ��� 
�N�
B��������������6���������� ��6�� ���������������
4�%%�� �����"���� ���� A��� ������� :� �	��
������������	���� ��"�� �������6��������������6��
���%����������,������������������������&�

8�;� .��������
� *19� ��� ��� 2��������� 	����
�6�������� �6��������� � � ������ ��6�� ���%���
�������� ���� ���������������&�
�N���������"���
���� �������� ��� ��������� ������ �������
�������� ���� ���� ����"��� ������������ ���
����� � � � ���� ; �� ����� ���� ��������� ���
����������� ��� ��6�� ���%���,� ���� <=�� ����� ����
����C���� ���� � � ������ �������� ��� ��6�� ���%���,�
9�������!������������������������������������
������ ����������� � � ������ ��6�� ��������"�
 �������&� 
�N� 	����� ���� ��� ��� �������� ��� ����
������������

<����� ��������
� *��� ��� �� ���������� ��������
	��� )������ ������	� ��� ���(&� � 4�%%�� ����
	��%��� ��� ���� ��)������ � � ��6�� ������������
���������(�����������"������������������ �����
�������  ����"� ���� ��6�� �����&� � 4�%%�� ���
�6���������� ��� ��"������"� �������,� �������"�
���� ��������"� ������������� ���� ����"��"�
����������  &��4�%%��	���������������������	����
���� �������"� ���� ��������� � � �������� ����
������������&� 4�%%�� ���� ������� �����

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 44



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

���
������	�
�����
������������������������������

��������������A�B��#A������"��������������,�
B�������� ���� �����������$� ����"�
��� ���������� 
������� +������ ��� ���  ��� ����
��������������&�

$����������*��� ��� �� ����������� 	��� )������
������	� ��� ���(&� A��� ���� �6��������� � �
	��%��"� ��� ��������� ��6�� �������� ����� ����
����� ������ ������ ���� ��� �6���������� ��� ����

��������� � � ������� ����� ���� �������%��"�
������������&�A���	�����  ���"������������������
��������������&�

=�����R������������������������������&�

�

�

�

=�"����.&�3�+����������

�

�

�

�

!%�� $��)������
�����
���
��
.� ����
��

2�� A��)���� ����"��� 8����� 8������� 	���� ���
������������  ��� ���������"� ���� �����,� ���� ���
���� ������� �������,� ���%� ����������� ���� ��������
��������&� +������� A����� ���� ���������� �6�����
	���� ��� ������������  �����������"�"�������� ���
���� ����,� ��������"�����  ����� ���������������
���������������"�������������&���

���� ������ 	���� ��������� 	���� ��� ����������
������"� ��� 	����� ���� ���������� ���� ������ � �
	��%� 	���� ��� ����� ���� ���� �"����&� � ����
��������"����������	���������������������&��9��
	���������������������� �����"�������������"�� �
���� ��������"� ���������&� � 9�� ����  ��6�����
���������"� ����  ���� ���� ������ � � ����
�����������������	���������������������������
����������"����������&��

�

Technical Expert 
Stephen Pells 

 

Project Manager 
Katie Kearney 

Consultant 
Nicola Callaghan 

Consultant  
Pamela Murray 

Liz Richardson 
Specialist Advisor 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 45



��������	�
���
��	�������
���������������������
  

 

���
������	�
�����
������������������������������

"� #���$�� �����
�

����  �6���������  ������������"� ���������������

��� S1,((/J� R2�&� 2� ����%��	�� � � �����  ��� ���

"����� ��� ������ .&�� ����	&� 5�� ��������,� ����

�������������� ������ ����������� 	����

���������"� ���� �������� ��������� �6���� ���%��

������ ���� ��� ����� ��������� ���� ���������

������������&�

���������+�����  ��� ������������� �6�����������

������������ � ������ �������� � ����  ����� ������,�

��"������	�������������������������&�

���������������������S1,((/�������������*�

• 5���������������"*�
• B��%�����������������������(��������� �

�������������������*�
�

• A�����������������������	����������"�/���
��������	�*�

• 9�������������������*�
• �����������	���������������������������*��
• B������#��� ������ ����$*�����
• A�����������&�

�

<��������������������"����������	�����������

������ �����������,� ��� ���)���� ���������,� ��� ��

������� ����  ����� ������� ����"�� ����� ���� ���

��"�������� 	���� ���� ��� ������ ��� ����� �����

������������� ���� 	���� ��� �"����� �����

�����������&� ���� ������ ��� ���� �������� ����

���������������"��������������	�����	��������

���)�������������������"�������&�

������.&�3�!���%��	��� �������

�

�����������
�� ���		�������

������
������

/����������

������������ 5,353 2,531 7,884 

������+������#��������$� 1,276 300 1,576 

=�����
������#��������$� 969 70 1,039 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 46



 

 

1  �
����1�

�R��
�
�
�
�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 47



STEPHEN PELLS – TAXI EXPERIENCE 

 

Personal Details  
  
Nationality British 
Profession Transport Planner/Economist 
Specialisation Public Transport  
Position in Firm Director, Transport Planning 
Year of Birth 1962 
Years with Firm 11 
  
 
Key Qualifications 
• UK Regional Operation’s Director  
• 21 years experience in the assessment of local taxi markets in the UK and abroad. 

Provision of expert testimony and litigation support since 1990. 
• Experience in wide range of transport planning projects in the UK and overseas. 
• Expertise in the demand assessment of rail infrastructure and service improvements. 
• Wide experience of market research methods including Stated   Preferences. 
• Experienced in academic research. 
 
 
Education and Professional Status 
BA (Hons) Economics, North Staffordshire Polytechnic, 1984 
PhD Economics, Institute of Transport Studies, University of Leeds, 1987 
Member Chartered Institute of Transport, 1990.  
Chartered Member Institute of Logistics and Transport, 2000  
 
Experience Record 
2005 – Present  
Regional Operations Director UK North region 
2004 - Present 
Framework Director – City of York Council Engineering Framework Consultancy.  Leader of 
5-7 year exclusive services framework with fees of £2.5-£3.5m. 
2003 - 2005 
Product Manager Taxi market Advice 
2002- Present  
Major Projects Director, Transport Planning 
2001 - Present 
Regional Director of Halcrow, responsible for strategic management of the firm’s multi-
disciplinary businesses in Leeds and York, Director of Transport Planning. 
1997 to 2001 
Technical Director of Halcrow Fox, responsible for business development and day to day 
operations in the northern region.  Also responsible for leading and contributing to projects 
across a broad range of public transport planning and economics topics.  
1992 - 1997 
Associate Director of TecnEcon responsible for business development and operations in the 
Midlands, Northern and Scottish markets, and for day to day management of offices in 
Leeds and Glasgow. 
1990 - 1992 
Senior Transport Economist then acting Group Head of Steer Davies Gleave's Leeds office.  
Responsible for day-to-day running of office proposal writing and management of projects. 
1987 - 1990 
Postgraduate Research Fellow, Institute for Transport Studies, University of Leeds. 
Research projects into the regulation of local taxi markets, bus service simulation modelling 
and the generative effects of highway construction on traffic levels. 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 48



Key Taxi Market Experience 
 
2011 – Unmet Demand Studies 
Specialist Technical Advisor for unmet demand studies on behalf of Southampton, Fife, 
Crawley, Peterborough, Wirral, York, Cornwall (Carrick, Restormel, Penwith), Sunderland and 
Torbay. 
 
2010 – Unmet Demand Studies 
Specialist Technical Advisor for unmet demand studies of behalf of Sefton, Basingstoke, 
Dover, West Berkshire and Peterborough. 
 
2009 – Unmet Demand Studies 
Project Director for all unmet demand studies conducted 
 
2008 – Unmet Demand Studies 
Project Director for all unmet demand studies conducted 
 
2007 – Unmet Demand Studies 
Project Director for all unmet demand studies conducted by Halcrow.  
 
2007 – Provision of Taxi Services in Sheffield 
Project Director of this wide ranging review study 
 
2007 – Evaluating the impact of the OFTs 2003 taxi market study 
Project Director of this evaluation study 
 
2006 – Leicester Conditions of Fitness Review 
Project Director of this comprehensive review of Leicester’s conditions of fitness 
 
2006 – Unmet Demand Studies 
Project Director for unmet demand studies of behalf of Leicester, Hull, Trafford, Brighton and 
Thurrock. 
 
2006 – Taxi Regulation in Ireland 
Project Director of this study working alongside an Economic Consultancy and the Taxi 
Regulator.  The study aimed to review a number of options for improving driving and 
customer service standards in Ireland. 
 
2005 – Watford De- restriction Study 
Project Director of this consultation exercise to determine the effect of de restriction on the 
general public and trade. 
 
2005 – Unmet Demand Studies  
Project Director for unmet demand studies of behalf of Nottingham, Chorley, Wyre Forest, 
Blackburn, Southampton, Bournemouth, Cherwell, Sunderland, Wigan and Leicester 
 
2004/2005 – Wolverhampton De restriction Study 
Project Director of this study to determine the effects of de restriction in Wolverhampton. 
 
2004 – Response to DfT – Richmondshire 
Project Director of this study to determine whether or not there exists a significant unmet 
demand for hackney carriage services and to enable the authority to respond to the new DfT 
requirements using Halcrow’s new SUDMAP unmet demand forecasting model. 
 
2004 Response to DfT – Manchester 
Project Director of this study to determine whether or not there exists a significant unmet 
demand for hackney carriage services and to enable the authority to respond to the new DfT 
requirements using Halcrow’s new SUDMAP unmet demand forecasting model. This is the 
fifth study conducted by Halcrow on behalf of Manchester City Council. 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 49



 
2004 Response to DfT –  Colchester 
Project Director of this study to determine whether or not there exists a significant unmet 
demand for hackney carriage services and to enable the authority to respond to the new DfT 
requirements. 
 
2004 Response to DfT – Blackpool 
Project Director of  study to conduct the necessary consultations and prepare the response to 
DfT on behalf of the council 
 
2004 Response to DfT – Torbay 
Project Director of study to provide  unmet demand advice and to prepare the council’s 
response to the DfT’s new requirements 
 
2004 Rotherham Market Assessment 
Project Director of this unmet demand study to include the material necessary to enable the 
authority to respond to the DfT’s new requirements. 
 
2004 Response to DfT – Lincoln 
Project Director of study to provide  unmet demand advice and to prepare the council’s 
response to the DfT’s new requirements. 
 
2003 Advice to OFT 
Project Director of three studies conducted on behalf of the OFT in support of their review of 
the UK taxi market.  Reports available via OFT website. 
 
2003 Best Practice Review- Wirral 
Project Director of study to assess the licensing function at Wirral council and make 
recommendations for improvements. 
 
2003 Expert Testimony and Litigation Support-  Bristol 
Presented expert testimony at Bristol Crown Court on behalf of Bristol City Council versus the 
Automotive Group of Newcastle which had lodged 100 appeals.  All appeals failed. 
 
2003 Unmet Demand Studies 
Project Director of unmet demand studies on behalf of Wolverhampton, Blackpool (follow-up), 
Chemsford and Oldham. 
 
2002 Barriers to Flexible Taxi Services 
Project Director. A major research study for the DfT to determine why Sections 10 to 12 of the 
Transport Act, 1985 have not resulted in more examples of shared taxi and taxibus schemes. 
 
2002 Blackpool Taxi Study - Follow-up Study 
A follow-up exercise to update the 1998 study conducted by Halcrow. 
 
2002 Wolverhampton Licensing Appeal 
Provided litigation support to the authority in preparation for a licensing appeal.  The 
appellants withdrew on the day of the hearing. 
 
2002 Brighton and Hove taxi Study. 
A follow up to his 1991 study on behalf of Brighton Borough to determine if the supply in these 
two  recently combined authorities is sufficient under the terms of the 1985 Act 
 
2002 Bradford Taxi Study. 
A study to determine the existence of significant unmet demand in this large multi- centred 
authority. 
 
2002 Carrick Taxi Study 
A follow-up to the 1998 study to determine if the current limit on hackney numbers is 
appropriate. 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 50



 
2002 Exeter Taxi Study 
A follow up to the 1997 study for this historic city. 
 
2002 Bristol Taxi Study  
A study to provide the basis for a possible reintroduction of entry control to this major market. 
 
2002 Dartford Taxi Study  
A study to provide the basis for a possible reintroduction of entry control. 
 
2001 Cardiff Taxi Study  
A wide ranging review including an unmet demand study, trade and proprietor surveys, 
consultation and strategic policy advice. 
 
2001 Bournemouth Taxi Study 
A follow-up to the 1998 study to examine the effects of significant new development on the 
adequacy of the hackney fleet. 
 
2001 Worcester Taxi Study 
An unmet demand study for this historic town aimed at providing short term tactical advice 
concerning the ’85 Act and a longer term strategy for the development of taxis servcies. 
 
2001 Ellesmere Port and Neston Taxi Study 
The third study for this multi-centred authority  with particular emphasis on the implications of 
large scale out of town development on the operation of the small hackney fleet. 
 
2001 Torridge Taxi Study 
An unmet demand study for this multi-centred Devonshire authority.  
 
2001 Cherwell Taxi Study 
An unmet demand study for this multi-centred Oxfordshire authority encompassing Banbury, 
Bicester and Kiddlington. 
 
2001 Edinburgh Taxi Study 
An unmet demand study for this large urban taxi market. 
 
2000 Thurrock Taxi Study  
An unmet demand study with particular emphasis on the operation of ‘0’ licences in the 
borough. 
 
2000 Castle Point Taxi Study  
An unmet demand study for this dual central authority on the bank of the North Thames. 
 
2000 Calderdale Taxi Study  
An unmet demand study for this eight zoned licensing district to provide advice on entry 
control, zoning and a range of issues involving regulation and enforcement. 
 
2000 South Ribble Taxi Study  
An unmet demand study for the Lancashire authority. 
 
2000 Bedford Taxi Study  
A follow up to the 1996/7 study to advice on entry control policy. 
 
2000 Leeds Private Hire and Taxi  Study  
A wide ranging study on behalf of Leeds City Council with two main parts.  Part 1 involved 
advice to the city on access for hire cars to restricted areas of the city centre.  Part 2 
included an unmet demand study along with advice on licensing conditions, fares and longer 
term strategies. 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 51



 
2000 Manchester Taxi Market Study 
A follow up to the 1997 study including an assessment of unmet demand, the potential for 
new ranks, views of the entertainment’s trade and the due diligence of hackney capital and 
operating costs and fares setting procedures. 
 
2000 Leicester Taxi Study  
An unmet demand study for this de-restricted authority in order to inform the debate on 
whether to re-introduce entry control.  Also included a bespoke study to examine the 
potential for new suburban ranks. 
 
2000 Sefton Taxi Study  
A follow-up to the 1989 study in response to a licensing appeal. 
 
2000 Southend Taxi Study  
A follow up to the 1996 study to provide updated evidence on significant unmet demand. 
 
2000 Taxi Market Pre-Feasibility Study 
A study on behalf of a leading bus operator to explore the  potential for entry to the Taxi 
market. 
 
Earlier Unmet Demand and Related Study Experience 
1999  Peterborough Taxi Study; Selby Taxi Study and Litigation Support; Cambridge Taxi 
Study; Hull Taxi Study; Eastbourne Taxi Study; Exeter Taxi Study; Dundee Taxi Study; 
Congleton Taxi Study; Cheshire Taxi Bus Study 
Chester-le-Street Taxi Study; Southampton Taxi Study;  
1998  Burnley Taxi Study and Litigation Support. 
Manchester Taxi Study; Blackpool Taxi Study and Litigation Support; Sunderland taxi Study; 
Carrick Taxi Study; Abu Dhabi Taxi Study; North Devon Taxi Study; Bournemouth Taxi 
Study and Litigation Support; Sheffield Taxi Study; Southend Litigation Support; Wansbeck  
Taxi Study; Stratford Upon Avon taxi Study. 
1997  Nottingham Taxi Study; Reading Taxi Study; Manchester Taxi Study; Forest Heath 
Taxi Study. 
1996  Birmingham Taxi Study; Warrington Taxi Study; Lancaster Taxi Study; Ellesmere Port 
Taxi Study; Jakarta Taxi Study; St Albans Taxi Study; Wigan Taxi Study; Bath Taxi Study.  
1995  Cambridge Taxi Study; Dubai  Taxi Study; Sheffield Taxi Study;. 
1994  Kyle and Carrick Taxi Study; Manchester Taxi Study. 
1993  Richmondshire Taxi Study; Newcastle Under Lyme Taxi Study; High Peak Taxi Study; 
Sunderland Taxi Study.  
1992  Cambridge Taxi Study; Manchester Taxi Study; East Sussex Taxis in Bus lanes Study 
– Brighton; Sheffield Litigation Support. 
1986-1991  Taxi studies on behalf of around 50 local licensing authorities.  
1986-1990 Taxi Market Regulation Research 
Academic research funded by the ESRC into the implications of the Transport Act 1985 for 
the taxi market.  
    
 
Publications 
and 
Papers on 
Taxi Matters 
 
 

 
“Pells SR (1996)”  “Unmet Demand Studies” Paper presented to the first 
Annual Meeting of the Local Government Licensing Forum. 
Pells, SR and Toner, JT (1990) "Entry regulation in taxi markets:  the 
effects of the 1985 Transport Act" Proceedings of Seminar D Planning 
and Transport Research and Communications (PTRC). 
Pells, SR (1990) "Taxi licensing follow-up study: summary of main results" 
Institute for Transport Studies Working Paper No.296  University of 
Leeds. 
Pells, SR (1989) "The effects of partial deregulation of the British taxi 
industry".  Paper presented at the Seminar on Transport Planning held 
at Complutense University, Madrid. April. 

 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 52



KK 08/2011  Page 1 of 4 

KATIE KEARNEY  
  

  
Personal details  
  
Nationality British 
Profession Transport consultant 
Specialisation Transport planning 
Position in company Senior consultant 
Year of birth 1979 
Years with company 7 
  
  
Key experience and skills Taxi market and unmet demand studies 

 
Stakeholder and community consultation through postal 
surveys, focus groups and workshops. 
 
Survey development and analysis  
 
Skills in data analysis, report writing and presentations. 
 
Deputy Business Systems Manager  
 
Travel Plan Coordinator for Halcrow  
 
Sustainable transport policy 

  
  
Education and 
professional status 

MSc Transport Planning, Institute for Transport Studies, 
University of Leeds, 2004 
 
BSc (Hons) Geography, University of Sheffield, 2001 
 
Member of the Transport Planning Society 

  
  
Language ability English mother tongue 

Spanish basic 
  
  
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 53



KK 08/2011  Page 2 of 4 

 
Experience Record  
  
2004-present Halcrow Group Limited 
  
2011 Taxi Market Studies 
 Project Manager of hackney carriage studies on behalf of 

Southampton and City of York Council. Package Manager of studies 
on behalf of Cornwall Council (Carrick, Restormel and Penwith), 
Project team member of taxi market studies on behalf of Wirral 
Council, Fife, Sunderland, Torbay and Crawley. The studies include 
an assessment of supply and demand through direct observations in 
addition to extensive consultation and market research.   

  
2011 SPAD, Taxi Transformation Plan 
 Responsible for the preparation of a taxi transformation plan for Kuala 

Lumpur on behalf of the Malaysian Land Transport Authority. The plan 
aimed to drive up the quality of taxi services across Greater KL and was 
part of a set of transformation plans addressing each element of the 
public transport system.   

  
2010 Unmet Demand Study 
 Project Manger of a local hackney carriage and private hire market 

study on behalf of Dover Council.  Project Team Member of a further 
five studies on behalf of Sefton, Pendle, Basingstoke, Peterborough 
and Liverpool Councils. The studies include an assessment of the 
impact of the current regulatory regime on users and non users of taxi 
services and include an assessment of supply, pricing and quality 
controls.  Extensive consultation, market research and direct 
observation are being conducted to provide the evidence base.  The 
studies will provide the basis for the Councils to determine their entry 
control policy and will be of sufficient rigor to withstand scrutiny by the 
Courts should the circumstances of an appeal arise. 

  
2010-2011 HAWIS, Stakeholder Manager 
 Responsible for the stakeholder management elements of a major 

piece of work to develop and deliver a weather information system for 
the Highways Agency.  

  
2007 - 2010 Highways Agency, Development Control Travel Planning 
 Provision of advice to the Agency throughout the development control 

planning process in Y+H, NE and NW regions. Work involves advising 
developers and consultants on the travel planning requirements of the 
planning process and working proactively with other stakeholders 
including local authorities, PTEs and HA officers to facilitate sustainable 
development. 

  
2010 City of York Council, LTP3 Consultation 
 Facilitation of two workshops with key local stakeholders and vulnerable 

people to help the council develop their LTP3 priorities. 
  
2009-2010 Voluntary Travel Plan Programme Baseline Development, 

Implementation and Monitoring – Highways Agency 
 Project Manager of several Voluntary Travel Plan Studies for the 

Highways Agency.  
  
2009 Unmet Demand Studies 
 Project Manger of 2 local hackney carriage and private hire market 

study on behalf of Rotherham Council and Brighton and Hove 
Council.  Project Team Member of further studied on behalf of North 
Tyneside and Gateshead Councils. 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 54



KK 08/2011  Page 3 of 4 

  
2008-2009 Edinburgh Taxi Study 
 Involved throughout this year long hackney carriage unmet demand 

study in Edinburgh which included rank observations throughout the 
year, consultation, surveys and reporting. 

  
2008-2009 Area Travel Plan Feasibility Studies – Highways Agency 
 Project Manager of several Area Travel Plan Feasibility Studies for the 

Highways Agency. Areas under investigation include Paragon Park and 
Glasshoughton Wakefield, Monkton Park South Tyneside, Daresbury 
Park Halton and Kings Reach Stockport. 

  
2008 Unmet Demand Studies 
 Project Manger of a local hackney carriage and private hire market 

study on behalf of Torridge Council.  Project Team Member of further 
studies on behalf of York, Stirling and Renfrewshire Councils. 

  
2007 - 2008 Leeds Unmet Demand Study – Leeds City Council 
 Project team member of this hackney carriage unmet demand study 

which took place over the course of a year to investigate seasonality.   
  
2007  Unmet Demand Studies 
 Project Manager of an unmet demand study for Ellesmere Port and 

Neston Borough Council. Project Team Member of further studies on 
behalf of Plymouth and Exeter. 

  
2007 Provision of Taxi Services in Sheffield – Sheffield City Council 
 Involved in all aspects of this study which aimed to review the taxi 

market through public and trade consultation, analysis of current and 
future demand and a benchmarking exercise. 

  
2007 Evaluating the impact of the OFT’s 2003 taxi market study – 

Europe Economics/Office of Fair Trading 
 Working alongside an economic consultancy reviewing the changes in 

the taxi market since the OfT report in 2003. Involved with a survey of 
local authorities and in depth “after” studies. Package manager of after 
study 2. 

  
2006-2007 Travel Training - CENTRO 
 Project developed a travel training programme for Centro incorporating 

a manual, guide and practical tools. Included consultation with existing 
training schemes and a stakeholder workshop. 

  
2006 Unmet Demand Studies  
 Project team member of unmet demand studies on behalf of Bristol 

Council, Thanet Council, Thurrock Council and Brighton and Hove 
Council. 

  
2006  Hackney Carriage Conditions of Fitness Review - Leicester City 

Council 
 Involved throughout this comprehensive review of Leicester’s conditions 

of fitness for hackney carriage vehicles. Included consultation and the 
organisation of a vehicle roadshow for the public. 

  
2006 Taxi Regulation In Ireland – Irish Taxi Regulator 
 Involved all over this study working alongside an Economic Consultancy 

and the Taxi Regulator.  The study aimed to review a number of options 
for improving driving and customer service standards in Ireland. 

  
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 55



KK 08/2011  Page 4 of 4 

2005-2006 Dial and Ride Review – City of York Council 
 Involved throughout this review of the dial and ride service. Carried out 

a review of current day to day procedures along with a review of costs 
and patronage.  

  
2005 Unmet Demand Studies  
 Project team member of unmet demand studies on behalf of Leicester 

City Council, Southampton City Council, Bournemouth Borough 
Council, Cherwell District Council and Wyre Forest District Council. 

  
2005-2006 LTP2 Consultation Report – City of York Council 
 Responsible for the production of a report detailing the consultation 

carried out for LTP2 and the responses received. Work involved 
coordination with CYC officers, data analysis and assimilation to 
produce the final report. 

  
2005 GMPTE Travel Horizons – GMPTE  
 Study focused on people’s access priorities and travel horizons in 

deprived areas across Greater Manchester but focusing on Rochdale, 
Oldham and Harpurhey area of North Manchester. A series of focus 
groups were organised and carried out with different sectors of the 
community to ensure transport needs were being met.   

  
2005 Barriers to Public Transport Use 3 – East Lancashire Partnership 
 Involved in various aspects of this large study for the East Lancashire 

Partnership. Responsible for the coordination of Mystery traveller 
surveys and accompanying individuals both familiar and unfamiliar with 
public transport on buses in the East Lancashire area as well as trams 
and trains across Greater Manchester.  

  
2005 Lancaster Car Club – Lancaster City Council 
 Investigated the feasibility of a car club in the Lancaster area for the 

City Council.  
  
2004-2005 GMPTE Taxi Voucher Research – GMPTE  
 Assisted with the analysis of the Greater Manchester taxi voucher 

scheme to establish if the scheme met peoples needs. Involved in 
organising and carrying out focus groups with the elderly, disabled and 
those from ethnic minorities with limited or no English and providing 
recommendations to GMPTE. 

  
2004-2005 Wolverhampton Taxi Study – Wolverhampton City Council 
 Involved in this review of transport policy and the taxi trade in 

Wolverhampton. Organised local stakeholder consultation. 
  
2004-2005 Newcastle Community Transport – Newcastle New Deal for 

Communities 
 Analysis and write up of questionnaire data investigating the availability 

of and potential improvements to community transport provision.  
  
2004 Blackpool Taxis, Response to the DfT – Blackpool Council 
 Assisted with the analysis and write up throughout the study.  
  
2004 Rotherham Taxi Study – Rotherham Borough Council 
 Carried out a telephone survey as part of an unmet demand study to 

determine the availability of wheelchair accessible vehicles. 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 56



Nikki Callaghan 
 

01/04/08 
 

 
  
 
Personal Details  
  
Nationality British 
Profession Transport Consultant 
Specialisation Transport Planning 
Position in Firm Consultant 
Year of Birth 1986 
Years with Firm 3 years 
  
 
Key 
Qualifications 

Experience in carrying out unmet demand surveys and 
knowledge of the taxi market in line with current best practice. 
 
Experience in the travel planning sector. 
 

 Experienced on street market researcher 
 
Experience of stakeholder and community consultation through 
postal surveys, focus groups and workshops. 
 
Skills in data analysis, report writing and presentations. 
 
Experience using a variety of software including Office, SPSS,
AIMSUN, GIS (Arcmap), TRICS, TEMPRO, CAD. 
 
Knowledge and understanding of the following; ARCADY, 
PICADY, LinSig. 
  

 
Education and Professional 
Status 

BSc (Hons) Human Geography, Manchester Metropolitan 
University, 2008 

 
Language Ability English      Mother Tongue 

French       Basic 
  

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 57



NIKKI CALLAGHAN 
 
Experience Record  
2008-2010 Halcrow Group Ltd 
  
2011 Unmet Demand Study 
 Consultant: Project Team Member of studies on behalf of Sunderland, 

Torbay, Cornwall, Fife, York, Liverpool, Crawley and Peterborough. 
Responsible for supervising and organising consultation and surveys, 
undertaking quotas of public surveys, inputting and analysing data 
received for the public attitude and trade surveys.  

  
2011 Wirral Taxi Review 
 Consultant: Involved in all aspects of this review for a delimited authority 

including surveys, consultation and benchmarking exercise. 
  
2011 Leeds Bradford International Airport  
 Consultant: Involved in collating evidence for the Statement of Common 

Ground and Proof of Evidence. Site visits were made to LBIA as part of the 
parking strategy which formed part of the SoCG.  

  
2010-2011 West Berkshire Taxi Study 
 Consultant: Involved in inputting and analysis of data collected as part of 

the rank observations, public attitude surveys and trade surveys. Also 
assisted in reporting to client. 

  
2010 TICCO, Metro 
 Consultant: Provided assistance in the development of both a paper survey 

and online survey (using Survey Monkey) on behalf of Metro to monitor the 
use of different types of MetroCards. Consulting with the public, inputting 
and analysing the results. 

  
2010 Fisher Lane, Cramlington TP Review, Highways Agency 
 Consultant: Review of AECOMs travel plan surrounding a new residential 

development. The review involved assessing the sites accessibility; the 
travel plans targets and mitigation strategies and reporting.  

  
2010 Greater Manchester Police Travel Plan 
 Consultant: Undertook a site audit looking at accessibility to the police 

headquarters in Ashton-under-Lyne in order to assist with the development 
of their travel plan.  

  
2010 Doncaster Taxi Study 
 Consultant: Involved throughout this study for the authority for an authority 

with a policy of delimitation. Undertook face to face public attitude surveys 
in Doncaster, inputted and analysed data and carried out reporting of
results to the council in line with best practice guidance.  

  
2010 Harrogate Preferred Options 
 Consultant: Carried out a review of the preferred site options in rural areas 

as part of the Harrogate Borough Council LDF: Allocations Proposed 
Submissions Development Plan Document on behalf of the Highways 
Agency. 

  
2010 Basingstoke Taxi Study 
 Consultant: Involved with data input and analysis and reporting to client in 

line with best practice guidance. 
  
2010 Longdendale Integrated Transport Strategy 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 58



NIKKI CALLAGHAN 
 Consultant: A review of the Longdendale Integrated Transport Strategy 

developed by Tameside Council on behalf of the Highways Agency. 
Developed a response to the consultation and attended a meeting with 
both the Yorkshire and Humber and North West Highways Agency teams. 
From the meeting it was decided that a document should be produced for 
Derek Turner outlining the proposed strategy options and a number of 
related questions pertaining to the HA’s response to the consultation. 

  
2010 Sefton Taxi Study 
 Consultant: Carried out an audit of the ranks across Sefton, organised  

rank observations and public attitude surveys. Input data, analysis of data 
and reporting to the council in line with best practice guidance. 

  
2010 Dover Taxi Study 
 Consultant: Organising the public attitude surveys, inputting and analysis 

of the rank observations and reporting to the council in line with best 
practice guidance. 

  
2010 Pendle Taxi Study 
 Consultant: Assisted in organising and inputting the rank observations and 

public attitude surveys.  
  
2009  Team Valley Travel Plan Monitoring 
 Consultant: Involved in consultation with stakeholders in the team valley 

area including face to face surveys and organising external survey 
companies. Responsible for organising traffic counts, inputting of all data 
and analysis. Assisted in reporting to the Highways Agency. 

  
2009 J32 Voluntary Travel Plan 
 Consultant: Involved in extensive stakeholder consultation, inputting and 

analysis of results and reporting to the HA. Also organised and attended 
meetings and workshops with stakeholders on site. 

  
2009 Unmet Demand Studies – Various Local Authorities 
 Project Team Member of 6 unmet demand studies in Autumn 2009 on 

behalf of Blackpool Council, Brighton Council, Leicester Council, 
Gateshead Council, North East Lincolnshire Council and Oxford
Council.  Involved in all aspects of these studies including rank observation 
analysis, consultation and reporting. 

  
2009 LBIA Staff Travel Survey  
 Consultant: responsible for drafting a survey and conducting face to face 

surveys with staff at LBIA. Inputting and analysis of data and reporting. 
  
2009 Surrey Travel Training 
 Consultant: Involved a review of the current travel training scheme and a 

desktop review of both local and national policy surrounding travel training. 
A review was also undertaken of the current schools and statemented 
children to determine the need for travel training. 

  
2009 Local Transport Act-Effectiveness in Rural Communities, 

Commission for Rural Communities 
 Consultant: Collating research to develop a ‘Think Piece’ looking at how 

provisions in the Local Transport Act can impact on rural transport. 
Specifically, the changes proposed in the Local Transport Act 2008, what 
the changes mean for rural transport provision and the impact of the 
changes on rural transport provision. 

  
2009 Unmet Demand Studies – Various Local Authorities 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 59



NIKKI CALLAGHAN 
 Project Team Member of 4 unmet demand studies in Spring 2009 on 

behalf of Rochdale Council, Braintree District Council, Southend Council 
and Scarborough Council.   

  
2008 Strategic Park and Ride Review 
 Consultant: Extensive research into the best practice of park and ride 

delivery as part of a review on the development and possible benefits of 
implementing Strategic Park and Ride sites in Yorkshire and the Humber. 
Alongside a best practice review the study also involved a review of current 
policy and consultation at local and regional levels. 

  
2008  Junction 32, M62 Castleford Feasibility Study – Highways Agency 
 Consultant: Development of a feasibility study at Junction 32 of the M62, 

Castleford. Involved a detailed site audit, extensive consultation with 
stakeholders on the site including Wakefield District Housing. Occupier and 
employee surveys were completed to provide travel to work data. 

  
2008 - 2009 Barrow Unmet Demand Study – Barrow-in-Furness Council 
 Consultant: Involved throughout this unmet demand study including 

consultation, data analysis and reporting. 
  
2008 – 2009 North Tyneside Unmet Demand Study – North Tyneside Council 
 Consultant: Involved throughout this unmet demand study including 

consultation, mystery shoppers, data analysis and reporting. 
  
2008 - 2009 Edinburgh Unmet Demand Study – City of Edinburgh Council  
 Consultant: Involved in the consultation, data analysis and reporting of this 

year long study. 
  
2008 - 2009 Leeds Unmet Demand Study – Leeds City Council 
 Consultant: Involved throughout this yearlong unmet demand survey. 

Carried out consultation, data analysis and reporting. 
  
2008 Unmet Demand Studies – Various Local Authorities 
 Project Team Member of 3 unmet demand studies in 2008 on behalf of 

Rotherham MBC, Preston Council and Sunderland Council.  
  
2005-2008 Manchester Metropolitan University 
 BSc (Hons) Human Geography 
2007-2008 Dissertation “Local Sustainable Transport Plans in Leeds; A Critical 

Evaluation of the Proposed Park and Ride Scheme.” 
  
2007 Leeds City Council – Work Experience 
 Supporting the Council Transport Planning Team including; Guisley rail 

station parking feasibility study; Preparation of GIS parking facilities 
inventory; School Travel Plan analysis; and 20mph zone mapping.   

  
Courses Attended  
02/10/2008  Halcrow Induction Course – Shortlands 1 and 2, Hammersmith, London. 
26/11/2008-
28/11/1008 

Technical Induction Course – Vinyard House, Hammersmith, London. 

01/2009-06/2009 PTRC Young Professional Lecture Series – Arup, Leeds 
2009 Travel Plan Course – Highways Agency, Leeds 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 60



PM 02/2011  Page 1 of 4 

PAM MURRAY  
  

  
Personal details  
  
Nationality British 
Profession Consulting, Transport Planning 
Specialisation Transport Planning 
Position in company Consultant transport planner 
Year of birth 1984 
Years with company 3 
  
  
Key experience Experience in carrying out unmet demand surveys and 

knowledge of the taxi market in line with best practice. 
 
Experience of conducting stakeholder and community 
consultation through written consultation and surveys, focus 
groups and workshops. 
 
Skills in data analysis, scheme appraisal, report writing and 
GIS analysis. 
 
Practical Experience with many types of specialised software 
packages including SPSS, MapInfo, ArcGIS, TRICS, TEMPRO, 
PICADY, ARCADY, TRANSYT, SQL Server, SAS, FoxPro as 
well as the Microsoft Office Suite. 

  
  
Education and 
professional status 

BSc (Hons) Geography, University of Leeds, 2006, Dissertation 
“Analysis of Changing Beach Morphology in the long and short 
term, North Norfolk, UK” 

  
  
Language ability English mother tongue 
  
  
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 61



PM 02/2011  Page 2 of 4 

 
 
Experience record  
  
2008-present Halcrow Group Limited 
  
2011 UK: Unmet Demand Study 
 Consultant: Project team member of studies conducted on 

behalf of Southampton, Sunderland, Torbay, Cornwall and 
Fife. Responsible for organising consultation and surveys, 
inputting and analysing data for public attitude and trade 
surveys and creation of mapping outputs highlighting key rank 
locations and issues. 

  
2011 UK: Area 10 Bus Stops 
 Auditing of bus stops on trunk roads within Area 10 of the 

network, with the aim to proposing future improvements for the 
stops. 

  
2010-2011 UK: York Pilot Restricted Parking Zone 
 Following the previous review of signing and lining within York 

past of the team designing a pilot restricted parking zone in a 
discrete area of York, presenting to the council with the aim of 
future submission to DfT. 

  
2010-2011 UK: Monks Cross Masterplan 
 Part of the team developing a masterplan for the development 

of a new retail area in the Monks Cross area of York, coupled 
with the development of a new community stadium. Mapping of 
potential future PT strategy, measuring the impact of existing 
traffic and proposed development traffic upon the surrounding 
area, including a review of other similar sites in the area. 

  
2010 UK: Dover Taxi Study 
 Consultant: Responsible for inputting and analysis of public 

attitude surveys collated for the study. 
  
2010 UK: Pendle Taxi Study 
 Consultant: Organisation and inputting of rank observations and 

public attitude surveys along with reporting to the council in line 
with best practice guidance. 

  
2010 UK: Lucite Cassel Transport Statement and Travel Plan 
 TS and TP for development of a new chemical plant on an 

existing industrial estate, inferring potential public transport 
improvements and impact of development traffic. 

  
2009-present UK: HA TA Reviews 
 Reviews of numerous Transport Assessments on behalf of the 

Highways Agency, to inform on the validity of the information 
presented. Analysis includes consideration of models produced, 
junction layouts, accuracy and suitability of data provided and 
feasibility of assumptions throughout. 

   
2010 UK: York Community Stadium Further Work 
 Key member of project team providing detailed transport 

appraisal at six potential community stadium sites. 
 
Roles included assessment and mapping of impacts for differing 
development mixes, appraisal of which of these impacts can be 
accommodated and accepted in line with local strategies and 
the implications this may have. 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 62



PM 02/2011  Page 3 of 4 

  
2009 UK: Leicester Unmet Demand Study 
 Consultant: Member of the project team involved in the 

Leicester Unmet Demand study, assisting in all aspects of the 
study including rank observations, inputting and analysis of 
surveys, consultation and reporting. 

  
2009 UK: York Signing and Lining Review 
 Comprehensive review of signing and lining policy for 

pedestrianised and restricted zones, combined with a best 
practice review of other relevant local authorities. Provision of 
recommendations to York council for a potential future strategy 
in developing York’s pedestrianised zone and the implications 
in doing so. 

  
2009 UK: Blackburn Public Transport Review 
 Assessment of the value of the existing bus network within the 

Blackburn with Darwen borough and provision of 
recommendations for future amendments to improve value. 
 
Roles included use of GIS and ranking of the existing network, 
and mapping the impacts of potential future amendments. 
Creation of subsidy criteria for service removal, benchmarking 
against other similar authorities. 
 
Identification of potential solutions in place of existing services 
following service removal. 

  
2009 UK: Transport for Leeds Package 
 Mapping of impacts and potential solutions for P&R sites in the 

area. Decision matrix (multi criteria site analysis) 
  
2009 UK: York Community Stadium Strategic Transport Study 
 Strategic study assessing the transport opportunities and 

constraints associated with 17 possible sites for a new 
community stadium within the city. Work will be used to select a 
preferred short list of sites which will be subject to subsequent, 
more detailed scrutiny. 

  
2009 UK: Poppleton Bar Transport Assessment 
 Review of relevant regional and local planning polices; 

sustainable access provision; accident analysis, using TRICS 
software to obtain trip rates, & assessment of VISSIM modelling 
outputs to assess traffic impact. 

  
2009 UK: Regional Network Report for North East 
 Provide the submission for the Highways Agency’s Regional 

Network Report 2010 for the North East Region. Includes policy 
review and analysis of current network performance. 

  
2009 UK: East Leeds Parkway Strategic Park & Ride Preliminary 

Business Case 
 Part of project team preparing an outline business case 

assessing the potential wider strategic Park & Ride role that 
could be provided at East Leeds. Tasks include benchmarking 
against current similar operational sites, assessment of the 
infrastructure around the proposed site and its feasibility, 
mapping and analysis of possible impacts and benefits on the 
SRN, presentation of results to the Highways Agency, with a 
follow up workshop involving key stakeholders to present the 
key benefits of such a scheme. 

  

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 63



PM 02/2011  Page 4 of 4 

2009 UK: Sand Hutton TA Review 
 Review of a Transport Assessment on behalf of the Highways 

Agency for a proposed car park expansion at a current out of 
town employment site, investigating highways impacts on the 
local junctions, and suggested additions/improvements to be 
made. 

  
2009 UK: Cemetery Road, York 
 Consideration of a number of shared space options for 

Cemetery Road/Fulford Road in York. Phase 1 of this study 
outlined key issues, perceptions and policy to be addressed in 
the development of these scheme options. 

  
2009 UK: Commission for Rural Communities 
 Policy review identifying changes and impacts in the new Local 

Transport Act. 
  
2009 UK: Dewsbury Road Transport Assessment Review 
 Review of a Transport Assessment on behalf on the Highways 

Agency. Consideration of models produced, junction layouts, 
accuracy of data provided and feasibility of the assumptions 
made, including possible suggestions for improvement. 

  
2009 UK: St Modwen – Whessoe Road 
 Junction analysis as part of a Transport Assessment, involving 

the use of PICADY and ARCADY software packages. 
  
2008 UK: York Subsidised Bus Service Review 
 Consultant: Responsible for assessment of the value and 

possible alternatives to the existing provision of subsidised bus 
services York. Tasks included benchmarking against similar 
authorities, analysis of existing subsidy criteria and developing 
proposals for new criteria highlighting the impacts of service 
removal, and subsequent solutions to aid the affected areas. 
 

  
2008 UK: Unmet Taxi Demand Studies 
 Consultant: Involvement in numerous unmet demand studies 

across the UK including, among others, Leeds, Bath, 
Southampton, Preston, Edinburgh and Scarborough. 
Studies involve reviewing existing hackney carriage operations 
within the relevant authority to advise Councils on the adequacy 
of their hackney carriage fleet. 
Roles involve liaising with temp agencies regarding required 
survey collections, data input and analysis, background 
research and key stakeholder consultation in written format and 
local focus groups. 

  
2006-2008 UK: Data Analyst, EuroDirect 
 Member of international product development team. Roles 

include data acquisition, processing and analysis, maintenance 
of existing products and research into developing current 
working methodologies. GIS profile analysis used in completion 
of customer profile reports. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 64



Liz Richardson 

30/09/10

Personal Details 

Nationality British
Profession Transport Consultant 
Specialisation Taxis, Consultation and Non conventional transport 
Position in Firm Associate 
Year of Birth 1976
Years with Firm 9

Key 
Qualifications

Development of Policy 

Strategic Reviews 

Experience in a wide range of taxi market work and knowledge
of the taxi market. 

Experience of stakeholder and community consultation through
postal surveys, focus groups, workshops and roadshows. 

Skills in data analysis, report writing and presentations. 

Experience using a variety of software including Office, SPSS,
and statistical packages. 

Education and Professional 
Status

BA(Hons) Environmental Management, University of Leeds
1994-97 
Modules included Urban Sustainability, Economics,
Environmental Law 
Dissertation: Sustainable Transport in Leeds  

Language Ability English      Mother Tongue 
French       Basic 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 65



   LIZ RICHARDSON 

Experience Record  
2011 Unmet Demand Survey 

Project Manager 
 Project Manager for unmet demand studies on behalf of Fife, Wirral, 

Crawley, Sunderland, Torbay and Cornwall.   

2010 Unmet Demand Survey 
Project Director 
Project Director for unmet demand study on behalf of Pendle Council.

2010 Unmet Demand Survey 
Project Manager 

 Project manager for unmet demand studies on behalf of Sefton, Dover, 
Basingstoke, Doncaster, Peterborough, West Berkshire  

2009 Unmet Demand Survey 
Project Manager 
Project manager for unmet demand studies on behalf of Braintree, 
Rochdale, Hull, Southend on Sea, Brighton, Gateshead, Leicester, 
Oxford, Blackpool, NE Lincolnshire 

2008 Leeds City Council – Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Study
Project Manager 

 Year long unmet demand study including consultation, data analysis and
reporting.

2007 Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Study 
Project Manager 

 Project Manager of Unmet demand studies for Bradford Council, Barnsley
Council, Thanet Council, Exeter Council, Manchester Council,
Richmondshire Council and Stirling Council.

2007 Unmet Demand Survey – Ellesmere Port & Neston BC 
 Unmet demand study including consultation, data analysis and reporting

2007 Provision of Taxi Services in Sheffield – Sheffield City Council 
 Study looking into the provision of both hackney and private hire services

across Sheffield and the potential for improvement. 

2007 Evaluating the impact of the OFT’s 2003 taxi market study – Europe 
Economics/Office of Fair Trading 

 Working alongside an economic consultancy reviewing the changes in the
taxi market since the OfT report in 2003. Involved with a survey of local 
authorities and in depth “after” studies. Package manager of after study 2.

2007 Plymouth Council - Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 
Project Manager 

 Unmet Demand survey involving rank observations and consultation.
Responsible for client liaison, consultation and the overall
management/delivery of the study

2006 - 2007 Bristol City Council  -Bristol Taxis Unmet Demand Study 
Project Manager  

 Unmet Demand survey involving rank observations and consultation.
Responsible for client liaison, consultation and the overall
management/delivery of the study

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 66



   LIZ RICHARDSON 

2006 -2007 Brighton & Hove Council - Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey
Project Manager 

 Unmet Demand survey involving rank observations and consultation.
Responsible for client liaison, consultation and the overall
management/delivery of the study. 

2006 Taxi Regulator - Taxi Regulation In Ireland 
Project manager 

 Project Manager of this study working alongside an economic consultant
and the Taxi Regulator.  The study aimed to review a number of options
for improving driving and customer service standards in Ireland 

2006 Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 
Project manager 

 Project Manager of Unmet Demand studies for Thurrock council, Trafford 
Council, Southampton Council and Leicester Council. Surveys involved
rank observations and consultation. Responsible for client liaison, 
consultation and the overall management/delivery of the studies.

2006 Leicester City Council - Conditions of Fitness Review 
Project Manager 

 Project Manager of this comprehensive review of Leicester’s conditions of
fitness. 

2005 Watford Borough Council – Consultation re de restriction 
Project Manager 

 Consultation study which sought to gain views as to proposed changes to 
hackney carriage licence conditions following de restriction 

2005 Cherwell Borough Council –Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Study
Project Manager 

 Unmet demand study.  Responsible for client liaison, consultation and the
overall management/delivery of the study. 

2005 Lancaster City Council – Rural Car Club Feasibility 
Project Manager 

 Study reviewing the feasibility of a car club in Lancaster.  The study
involved a review of best practice and consultation with potential users
through face to face surveys and focus groups 

2005 GMPTE – Taxi Voucher Research 
Project Manager 
Review of GMPTE’s concessionary taxi voucher scheme involving
consultation with users and an appraisal of other comparative schemes

2005 Wolverhampton City Council – Advice on de restriction of the 
hackney carriage market 
Project Manager 
Consultation and analysis of the effect of removing the numerical limit on
the number of hackney carriage vehicles.

2004 GMPTE – Good Practice in Travel Training 
Project Manager 

 Development of a good practice guide in Independent Travel Training.
This involved consultation with users, providers and funders. 

2004 Gloucester ‘ Taxi Link’ 
 Development of a Business Plan for the implementation of this shared

taxi and taxi bus scheme in Gloucestershire 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 67



   LIZ RICHARDSON 

2003 Wakefield Community/Flexible Transport Strategy 
 Development of a community transport strategy with a view to

establishing the need for and ways of developing the community transport
sector in the Wakefield Metropolitan District.  Consultation with the public 
and stakeholders.  This involved a review of the existing public transport
network identifying areas of congestion and patronage decline. 

2003 Best Value for Wirral – Project Manager 
 Review of Taxi Licensing department and Consultation with the public 

and taxi trades on the service they receive. 

2003 Office of Fair Trading – Impact of Regulation on Taxis 
Project Manager 

 Review of the regulation of taxis and the costs and benefits to consumers
of restriction. Consultation with licensing officers across the UK. 
Included unmet demand studies in Sheffield and Cambridge 

2002 Sheffield City Council – Transport Brokerage 
Project Manager 

 Responsible for the feasibility study for the development of a non 
commercial transport brokerage (minibus sharing scheme) across the city
of Sheffield.  The study involved a desk top review of current brokerage
practice, consultation with users and analysis of current non commercial
transport.

2002-2003 Department for Transport – Barriers to Flexible Taxi Services 
Project Manager 

 This national study involved a comprehensive consultation period with
taxi licensing officers, taxi trades and the public to look at the reasons for
the slow development of taxibus and taxi sharing schemes 

2002-2005 Countryside Agency – Specialist Advisers 
Project Manager

 Responsible for providing specialist advice to Rural Transport
Partnerships and Parish councils across the North of England on all
aspects of conventional and unconventional rural transport projects. 

2002-ongoing City of York Council – Development of Action plan
 Responsible for consulting rural residents of York through ward

committees and focus groups on rural transport issues.  Responsible for
the development of a Rural Transport Action Plan prioritising transport
need and developing experimental projects across the study area. 

2000-2002 North Yorkshire County Council 
 Rural Transport Partnership Officer

1999 - 2000 Yorkshire Evening Post 
 Media Account Manager 
 Responsible for the account management of local companies’ advertising,

and the generation of new business 

1998 – 1999 Pearl Assurance 
 Financial Services agent with a leading home service financial services 

provider 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 68



  

 

�

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 69



Agenda Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4a Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 11 January 2012 of General Licensing Sub-Committee
	4b Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 8 February 2012 of General Licensing Sub-Committee
	5 Review of Hackney Carriage Licence Numbers
	App 1 CTS - 4371 UDS Chorley final.doc
	App 2 Final Halcrow Proposal.pdf


